

Dissemination and Evaluation of Clinical Practice Guidelines for HIV Disease

June, 1998

This Report is made possible through a generous grant from the Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation

Acknowledgements

The FCHR Project on Dissemination and Evaluation of Clinical Practice Guidelines for HIV Disease was funded through a generous grant from the Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. The workshop was developed by a Planning Committee whose members represented the various relevant constituencies. A list of Planning Committee members is located at the end of the report. The FCHR thanks all the Planning Committee members for their time and effort. The *Overview of Research on Clinical Practice Guideline Dissemination, Implementation and Evaluation* was written by Tina Sogocio, MPH and David Barr, JD. Michael Golde, JD, assisted in the research. Lee Raspasch assisted in editing. Debra Waugh provided copy editing and proof-reading services. William Gist assisted in the organization of the two-day workshop. Susan Brobst served as reporter and transcriber for both the Planning Committee meeting and the 2-day workshop. Without her assistance and great skill at translating conversation into a written format, this project could not have been accomplished.

The following people were instrumental in the development of this project and we thank them:

Bruce Agins, MD, MPH - NYS AIDS Institute
Sam Avrett, MPH - AIDS Vaccine Advocates Coalition
Sophia Chang, MD, MPH - Kaiser Family Foundation
Paul Gaist, Ph.D. - NIH Office of AIDS Research
Leslie Hardy, MPH - HHS Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation
Julia Hidalgo, ScD., MSW, MPH - Center for Health Policy Research
Jeff Levi - Center for Health Policy Research
John Ludden, MD - Harvard Pilgrim Health Care
Terry Shannon, MPH - Agency for Health Care Policy and Research

The Forum for Collaborative HIV Research, (FCHR) situated within the Center for Health Policy Research (CHPR) at The George Washington University Medical Center, is an independent public-private partnership composed of representatives from multiple interests in the HIV clinical research arena. The FCHR primarily facilitates ongoing discussion and collaboration between appropriate stakeholders on the development and implementation of new clinical studies in HIV and on the transfer of the results of research into clinical practice. The main purpose of the FCHR is to enhance collaboration between interested groups in order to address the critical unanswered questions regarding the optimal medical management of HIV disease. By encouraging coordination among public and private HIV/AIDS clinical research efforts, the FCHR hopes to integrate these efforts into HIV/AIDS medical care settings. Therefore, studies performed by these various research entities, separately or in cooperation, can begin faster; duplication of efforts can be reduced; patient enrollment and retention can be further facilitated; and costs of getting answers to the critical questions can be shared. At present, the FCHR is staffed by three persons and consists of over one hundred members, representing all facets of the field. These include pharmaceutical companies; public and private third-party payors; health care delivery system groups; government agencies; clinical research centers; and patient advocacy groups.

For further information about the Forum for Collaborative HIV Research and its projects, please call William Gist at 202-530-2334 or visit our Web site at: www.gwumc.edu/chpr and click on HIV Research.

Table of Contents

Report from the Executive Director and Executive Summary	1
Strategic Plan for the Dissemination, Implementation and Evaluation of Clinical	
Practice Guidelines for Treatment of HIV Disease	5
Summaries of Conference Presentations	20
Welcome and Introductions	20
The Need for Dissemination of HIV Clinical Practice Guidelines	21
Community Patterns of Care for HIV Disease	24
Patient Comprehension and Retention of Medical Information	28
Target Audiences: Identification and Needs Assessment	31
Health Care Workers	31
Patients	34
Social Service Providers	35
Health care Provider/Payors	36
Current HIV Treatment Dissemination Efforts	37
Federal Government	37
State Government	39
Community Organizations	42
Professional Associations	44
Pharmaceutical Industry	47
Evaluation of Clinical Practice Guideline Dissemination	48
An Overview of Research on Clinical Practice Guideline Dissemination,	
Implementation and Evaluation	55
Bibliography	82
Conference Agenda and Participant List	88

Report from the Executive Director and Executive Summary

On May 11 and 12, 1998, the Forum for Collaborative HIV Research (FCHR), with the support of the Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation, held a workshop to discuss the dissemination and evaluation of clinical practice guidelines for treatment of HIV disease. The workshop brought together experts in information dissemination, clinical researchers, representatives from federal and state government agencies, health care providers, patient advocates, and representatives from the pharmaceutical industry. The workshop was developed by a Planning Committee representing each of these constituencies (*see p. 93 for a list of Planning Committee members*). Workshop participants were provided with information about: (1) the different HIV clinical practice guidelines, (2) the needs for dissemination amongst various target audiences, (3) guideline dissemination and evaluation practices in other diseases, and (4) current HIV treatment information dissemination efforts. The outcome of the workshop is the strategic plan for the development of HIV guideline dissemination efforts contained in this report.

Despite the diversity of both participants and perspectives represented at the workshop, some important common themes emerged. These included:

Coordinated efforts to educate health care providers and patients about HIV treatment is essential to the overall success of the treatment strategies in HIV disease and for the protection of the public health. Simple messages are needed about the unforgiving nature of therapy when it is not used correctly by physicians and patients and about the public health ramifications of drug resistance. While there are many useful current dissemination efforts, this is not enough to meet the need.

While dissemination efforts must be implemented on a local level and will require public and private sector collaboration, leadership for the overall effort should be coordinated at the highest levels of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS).

Treatment information dissemination efforts must be on-going and able to respond to rapidly changing information based on new clinical research developments. Dissemination efforts must

1

¹ There are four HIV-related treatment guidelines: Report to the NIH Panel to Define Principles of Therapy of HIV Infection and Guidelines for the use of Antiretroviral Agents in HIV-Infected Adults and Adolescents, MMWR, April 24, 1998, Vol. 47. No. RR-5; Recommendations for the Use of Antiretroviral Drugs in Pregnant Women Infected with HIV-1 for Maternal Health and for Reducing Perinatal HIV-1 Transmission in the U.S., MMWR, Jan.30, 1998, Vol. 47, Po.RR-2, Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in Pediatric HIV Infection, MMWR, April 17, 1998, Vol.47, No.RR-4; 1997 USPHS/IDSA Guidelines for the Prevention of Opportunistic Infections in Persons Infected with HIV, MMWR, June 27, 1998, Vol.46, No. RR-12

recognize the diverse needs of different kinds of service providers and patients.

Any and all efforts to dissemination HIV treatment information must include an evaluation component. Without evaluation, implementation will be significantly less successful.

The strategic plan contained in this report is the product of work group discussions that took place during the workshop and is meant to: (1) outline the need for and components of a coordinated effort of HIV treatment information dissemination to health care providers, patients and social service providers; (2) suggest strategies for the development of such an effort; (3) offer recommendations as to the roles that government, industry, community and professional associations can play; and (4) suggest methods of evaluation of the dissemination efforts.

The work groups suggested strategies for dissemination and implementation efforts on both a national and local level. One important overall recommendation is the need for the DHHS to provide leadership in the national coordination of dissemination efforts. The first step should be to acknowledge that such dissemination efforts are crucial to the success of the HIV treatment strategy and are a high priority for the DHHS. The federal government has spent billions of dollars to develop these promising new treatment strategies. Transferring the results of research into clinical care is as important a component in addressing HIV disease as the research itself. DHHS has already committed vast amounts of money toward HIV care and services through Medicaid, Medicare, Ryan White funds, AIDS Drug Assistance Programs (ADAP), and many other programs. All these programs will be severely compromised if proper attention is not paid to the dissemination and implementation of these clinical practice guidelines.

Dissemination of information needs to start from a national level with: (1) the development of systems to provide of up-to-date information, and (2) the funding of infrastructures that can transfer information to the various constituencies and incorporate it into practice. Equally important will be the collaboration between the public, private, and non-profit sectors to exchange information and expertise, pool resources, and limit redundancy. Some of the salient recommendations in the strategic plan include:

Associations representing health plans and health care providers/payors should convene state-wide meetings to discuss the use of the HIV clinical practice guidelines.

Standards of care articulated in HIV guidelines should be incorporated into specifications for HIV Medicaid managed care contracts.

Using the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR) model, ² offer providers both complete versions of the clinical practice guidelines with source information, and synthesized versions of guidelines along with simple algorithms and charts. Different care providers will want different levels of information.

The overall message to the low-level health care providers should be to refer patients to experts if the provider does not feel ready or able to properly administer care. Referral information should be provided. If the provider is not able to refer a patient, then he/she must take responsibility to learn about appropriate HIV care.

A letter from the Surgeon General could be sent to health care providers to "launch" dissemination efforts. Such a letter would highlight the importance of proper care for HIV disease and provide fundamental principles of care, as well as information on how to learn more. The letter could be accompanied with a bulletin from state health departments giving state-based resources for information and referral.

Incorporate the use of computers into patient care. Use automatic reminders and warnings for drug interactions, scheduling diagnostics, and suggesting treatment combinations. Studies have shown this approach to be extremely effective.

Develop patient education materials, workshops, and trainings that are culturally sensitive and target people with diverse levels of education and literacy. Models for these workshops, trainings, and forums already exist at some AIDS service organizations and, where appropriate, should be duplicated. Videos, pictorial education, and pocket cards may be particularly useful for low-literacy populations.

Similarly, develop and implement materials and trainings for social service providers.

Develop a centralized data base for the collection of HIV treatment education materials that will allow easy access to institutions and organizations and prevent duplication of effort.

It is the hope of the FCHR that this document will be used as a blueprint for the development and coordination of specific dissemination efforts on national and local levels. In the coming weeks and months, the FCHR will hold meetings with the project Planning Committee and each of the constituencies represented at the workshop to discuss implementation of the recommendations made in this report. I want to thank all the participants, and the Planning Committee members in particular, for their time, wisdom, and good humor.

² The Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR) has created a framework for the dissemination and implementation of clinical practice guidelines. For further information, see the *Overview of Research on Clinical Practice Guideline Dissemination, Implementation and Evaluation,* included in this report. See also: *Using Clinical Practice Guidelines to Evaluate Quality of Care,* AHCPR Pub. No. 95-0045, March 1995.

Strategic Plan for the Dissemination, Implementation and Evaluation of Clinical Practice Guidelines for Treatment of HIV Disease

Introduction

On May 11 and 12, 1998, the Forum for Collaborative HIV Research held a workshop to discuss the dissemination and evaluation of clinical practice guidelines for treatment of HIV disease. The workshop brought together experts in information dissemination, clinical researchers, representatives from federal and state government agencies, health care providers, patient advocates, and representatives from the pharmaceutical industry. Workshop participants were provided with: (1) information about the different HIV clinical practice guidelines, 3 (2) the informational needs of various target audiences, (3) background information about medical guideline dissemination and evaluation, and (4) information about current HIV treatment information dissemination efforts. The participants were then divided into workgroups and asked to respond to a series of questions.

This document is the product of those workgroup discussions. It is not a step-by-step outline on how to disseminate HIV treatment information. Rather, it is meant to: (1) outline the need for a coordinated effort of HIV treatment information dissemination to health care providers, patients and social service providers; (2) suggest strategies for such an effort; (3) offer recommendations as to the roles that government, industry, community, and professional associations can play in these efforts; and (4) suggest methods of evaluation of the dissemination efforts. It is the hope of the FCHR that this document will be used as a blueprint for the development and coordination of specific dissemination efforts on national and local levels.

The workgroups were divided according to target audience including: (1) health care workers, (2) patients, (3) social service providers, and (4) health care providers/payors. The workgroups were composed to include representatives from each of the various constituencies present at the

_

³ There are four HIV-related treatment guidelines: Report to the NIH Panel to Define Principles of Therapy of HIV Infection and Guidelines for the use of Antiretroviral Agents in HIV-Infected Adults and Adolescents, MMWR, April 24, 1998, Vol. 47. No. RR-5; Recommendations for the Use of Antiretroviral Drugs in Pregnant Women Infected with HIV-1 for Maternal Health and for Reducing Perinatal HIV-1 Transmission in the U.S., MMWR, Jan.30, 1998, Vol. 47, Po.RR-2, Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in Pediatric HIV Infection, MMWR, April 17, 1998, Vol.47, No.RR-4; 1997 USPHS/IDSA Guidelines for the Prevention of Opportunistic Infections in Persons Infected with HIV, MMWR, June 27, 1998, Vol.46, No. RR-12

conference. Questions that the workgroups were asked to consider are as follows:

What is your target audience and what are their needs for HIV treatment information dissemination, including the special concerns for subpopulations within your audience, and the formats of information transfer that may best serve your audience(s)?

What strategies for information dissemination and implementation are recommended for your target audience?

What are the possible roles of the federal/state government, the community, professional organizations, health care providers, and the pharmaceutical industry in dissemination efforts for your target audience?

What methods are recommended for evaluation of strategies, including possible performance measures that can be built into dissemination programs?

Common Themes and Issues

Despite the diversity of both participants and perspectives represented at the workshop, some important common themes emerged. These include:

The need for coordinated efforts to educate health care providers and patients about HIV treatment is essential to the overall success of the treatment strategies in HIV disease and for the protection of the public health. Simple messages are needed about the unforgiving nature of therapy when it is not used correctly by physicians and patients and about the public health ramifications of drug resistance.

While dissemination efforts must be implemented on a local level and will require public and private sector collaboration, leadership for the overall effort should be coordinated at the highest levels of the DHHS.

Treatment information dissemination efforts must be on-going and responsive to rapidly changing information based on new clinical research developments. Dissemination efforts must recognize the diverse needs of different kinds of service providers and patients.

Any and all efforts to dissemination HIV treatment information must include an evaluation component. Without evaluation, implementation will be significantly less successful.

Identification and Needs of Target Audiences

Health Care Workers

These workers have the primary responsibility for providing medical care to people with HIV/AIDS and, therefore, have the greatest need for up-to-date treatment information. Studies have shown that patients who see physicians with extensive experience providing HIV care live longer and better lives. For many physicians who lack experience treating HIV disease, referral to an expert may be an appropriate action. However, referral is not always available because of restrictions in the patient's health care delivery system, lack of expertise in a geographical area, or because of the patient's inability to travel. This is a particularly difficult problem in rural areas. Even where referral is available, the local provider needs information about HIV treatment to provide necessary appropriate care, and must be aware of such issues as drug interactions, how to manage side effects, and urgent care problems. The workgroup felt it was critical to reduce the stigma of providing HIV care, particularly in small towns, and to encourage more physicians to care for patients with HIV.

The group defined health care workers broadly as all people who come into contact with patients in the medical setting, including doctors, physician assistants, nurses, nurse practitioners, midwives, pharmacists, case managers, HIV counselors, medical office administrative personnel, mental health workers, and drug abuse treatment personnel. Physicians were stratified into three levels. The top tier are those physicians who treat large numbers of people with HIV infection. These physicians are most likely to attend HIV meetings and conferences, read journals, and access Web sites. They are best able to stay current with and implement new developments in treatment strategies. The middle tier are physicians who treat some patients with HIV. These providers have less access to on-going, updated information and less time to seek it out. The workgroup felt that this was the most important group to reach in planning new treatment information dissemination efforts. The lowest tier are physicians who see few, if any, HIV patients. It was felt that other than providing them with very basic information, it would not be valuable to target this group of providers for detailed HIV education.

_

⁴ Heath K, et al <u>Physician Concurrance with Primary Care Guidelines for Persons with HIV Disease</u>. *Intl J STD AIDS 1997;8 (10: p.. 609-613*

However, low-volume providers should be supported and told that they are not incompetent and are being supported in their care effort.

The workgroup outlined the needs and messages that should be targeted to health care workers. Informational needs for all providers include the following:

Counseling/testing and risk assessment along with prevention messages
Stages of HIV disease
Signs and symptoms of illness
Prophylaxis for HIV-related opportunistic infections
Components of an initial work-up
Resources/linkages for more information and for referral
Information on side effects, drug interactions, and treatment adherence

Additional informational needs for medium- and high-volume providers:

Use of antiretroviral therapy
Opportunistic infection treatment
Drug resistance
Linkages for drug availability: compassionate care, expanded access programs, financial assistance programs, and AIDS Drug Assistance Programs (ADAP)
Linkages for prevention and support resources
Off-label use of drugs
Clinical trial availability

People Living with HIV/AIDS

Like on-going treatment for many other chronic illnesses, such as diabetes or hypertension, HIV treatment is lifelong and requires the patient to alter his or her lifestyle to adhere to a complicated treatment regimen. The need to involve patients in the process of treatment decision-making, education, and support is essential to the success of the treatment strategy. The ease with which multiple drug resistance can develop through poor patient adherence to antiretroviral treatment only intensifies the importance of teaching patients what their treatments are for and how to take them properly, as well as the importance of on-going support for patient adherence. Any treatment information dissemination plan must include strategies for education of people living with HIV/AIDS.

The key component to engaging patients in following through on treatment regimens is trust. The guideline for the use of antiretroviral agents in adults and adolescents states that physician and patient must consider multiple risks and benefits in deciding when to initiate therapy. The many factors which must be considered are complex and require that the patient take an active role in

contemplation and decision-making. The guideline states:

Intensive patient education regarding the critical need for adherence should be provided, specific goals of therapy should be established and mutually agreed upon, and a long-term treatment plan should be developed with the patient.⁵

People with HIV/AIDS come from many different communities and, therefore, have different needs in how they receive and are able to utilize treatment information. Factors that will affect a person's ability to obtain and use treatment information include:

Stage of illness
Education level
Access to and method of health care delivery
Age
Culture/belief systems
Geography (e.g., rural vs. urban)
Motivation
Economic status
Other responsibilities and crises
Mental health

A variety of formats targeting patients was recommended. Printed materials should be developed at different reading levels using pictures, charts, and tables. Materials should be culturally appropriate and available in multiple languages. Printed materials may best serve to supplement person-to-person interaction offered through workshops, forums, and peer counseling programs. Patients need to be given the opportunity to ask questions, discuss pending treatment decisions, and talk over their fears about treatment and disease. Computer-based services can be useful for some patients who know how to use and have access to them. However, it should be recognized that many patients do not have access to these resources and, therefore, over-reliance on them may not be valuable. Information about how patients comprehend, retain, and implement treatment information is essential and evaluation of patient treatment education programs is needed. For children, family members need information to make informed treatment decisions.

Social Service Providers

Social service providers have important ongoing interactions with people with HIV/AIDS and, therefore, have many opportunities to provide treatment education and support to patients on HIV therapy. Social service workers also need treatment information to perform their responsibilities as advocates for their clients. These workers play an essential role in assisting in efforts to obtain quality medical care, support efforts to adhere to treatment, provide the ancillary services that are

⁵ Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in HIV-Infected Adults and Adolescents, MMWR, April

required if treatment is to be effective, support primary prevention behaviors, and intervene if patients are given substandard medical care. They need to have a basic understanding of the standard of care to fulfill these functions.

Service providers were identified both within institutions where medical care is provided and within communities. Places where medical services are provided include: drug treatment centers, mental health treatment centers, hospitals, clinics, public health centers, in-home health care, family planning clinics, emergency medical services, and alternative medicine programs. Communitybased services include: AIDS service organizations (ASOs), community-based organizations (CBOs), daycare facilities, adult day treatment programs, schools, shelters, human resource department, and community institutions such as churches, hair salons, etc. Social services also include: foster care programs, correctional systems, welfare offices, police departments, and unemployment agencies. The group discussed the kinds of providers who need treatment information and generated a hierarchy of these providers extending from those who have least contact to those who have most contact with HIV patients. People who should be targeted include: (1) support providers, e.g., case managers, support group coordinators, crisis intervention workers, and "buddies"; (2) educators, e.g., health educators, peer counselors, Web site managers; (3) caregivers and advocates, e.g., mental health workers, drug treatment counselors, welfare case workers, food service workers and nutritionists, juvenile justice workers, and HIV testing counselors; and (4) support networks, e.g., family, friends, clergy.

Overall information dissemination needs for all providers were identified and general principles for dissemination were listed. The overall needs include:

Many community-based providers need knowledge of the principles of treatment, not necessarily specific details from clinical practice guidelines. Providers also need basic information about the disease and its natural history.

Information from clinical practice guidelines need to be provided in simple formats both for patients and for social service providers. Information must be handy and efforts must be made to reach providers instead of waiting for them to seek out this information.

Different levels and types of information are needed for various providers depending upon their roles and their location, and should take into account the cultural differences, literacy levels, and beliefs of the populations they serve.

Information should not just be limited to facts about HIV treatment, but should also include messages such as the importance of getting tested early, preventing HIV transmission, and recognizing that treatments are difficult and patients need help.

Goals of getting information to each type of provider include the following:

The one-time social service care supporter needs to be sensitive and knowledgeable about HIV and needs lay knowledge of the urgent medical issues.

Providers in a non-HIV-specific, non-medical context, who offer ongoing social support, need to know about adherence and that treatment is difficult and complex. These providers must recognize how the social service system affects the provision of HIV care and the complexity of treatment on the lives of their clients, and they need to put HIV on their list of life issues.

Providers in a medical setting need specific treatment information in a simplified format. They need in-depth knowledge of adherence, side effects, drug interactions, long-term aspects of the effect, and process of care. They need to know about referrals, support groups, advocacy, symptoms, and treatment decision-making.

Families and support people must be aware of how treatment information affects social service provision through adherence, patient support, maintenance of systems, and maintenance of access to care.

General principles to be disseminated to providers include:

Confidentiality/privacy should be protected and respected.

Patients and others about HIV disease and treatment should be educated.

Appropriate HIV testing in a social and political context should be promoted.

Early and sustained care should be engaged and promoted.

Treatments are available that prolong and save lives and need to be continuous.

Treatment is not a cure and effective treatment requires support.

Decisions about starting treatment are complex and have to be individualized.

Blood tests are available to help determine when to start treatment.

Adherence is important, difficult, and requires support.

Many drugs cause significant side effects.

Non-adherence is not a crime.

No one should have preconceptions about who will be non-adherent.

Crisis/change will affect adherence.

Lifestyle, especially substance abuse, will affect adherence.

You can advocate for the patient within the medical care system.

Information dissemination and education are ongoing processes.

Health Care Providers/Payors

Health care providers are defined as health care managers, payors, and plans both public and private. Medicaid programs are the payor/provider for half of the HIV/AIDS population, including 9 out of 10 children with HIV/AIDS. Medicaid-funded managed care programs are becoming the predominant system of care delivery. Other providers include Medicare, ERISA plans, the Department of Veterans' Affairs, correctional systems, large medical group practices, employers,

and insurers.

In addition to basic information about the epidemic, providers/payors need to understand the implications that changing standards of HIV care have on the development of high-quality, cost-effective systems of care and strategic planning. The executives or leaders of these bodies need an analysis of what HIV treatment guidelines mean for their organizations and budgets. They need purchasing specifications that define administrative needs and structural issues, service and benefit requirements, requisite support services, and guidance about the benefits of implementing guidelines. Clear messages about the complexity of delivering HIV care and the urgency of ensuring that treatment guidelines are followed under guidance of specialist caregivers must be provided. Contracts developed between state Medicaid programs and managed care organizations are perhaps the most important tool for dissemination, implementation and evaluation of HIV clinical practice guidelines.

Strategies for Dissemination and Implementation

The work groups suggested strategies for dissemination and implementation efforts on both national and local levels. One important overall recommendation is the need for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) to provide leadership in the national coordination of dissemination efforts. The first step in this coordinated effort is the acknowledgement that such dissemination efforts are crucial to the success of the HIV treatment strategy and are a high priority for the DHHS. The federal government has spent billions of dollars to develop these promising new treatment strategies. Transferring the results of research into clinical care is as important a component in addressing HIV disease as the research itself. DHHS has already committed vast amounts of money toward HIV care and services through Medicaid, Medicare, Ryan White funds, ADAP, and many other programs. All these programs will be severely comprised if proper attention is not paid to the dissemination and implementation of these clinical practice guidelines.

Dissemination of information needs to start from a national level with: (1) the development of systems to provide of up-to-date information, and (2) the funding of infrastructures that can transfer information to the various constituencies and implement it into practice. Equally important will be the collaboration between the public, private, and non-profit sectors to exchange information and expertise, pool resources, and limit redundancy. On a State and local level, dissemination efforts

should be developed to meet the specific needs of diverse audiences. The literature shows that the use of local opinion leaders to carry messages back to their respective communities is an important route of effective dissemination. The use of claims information, particularly by Medicaid programs, may provide an important way of learning more about who is providing care and the current standard of care. State-run programs and health care providers can use this information to target dissemination efforts to particular practitioners. However, current claims information is not readily available.

The workgroup participants offered strategies regarding the infrastructures in which information could be provided, the kinds of programs and policies that can be developed to reach the targeted audiences, and the context in which information needs to be delivered to the various audiences.

Provider/Payors

Associations representing health plans and health care providers/payors should convene state-wide meetings to discuss the use of the HIV clinical practice guidelines.

States should mail copies of the HIV guidelines to health maintenance organizations (HMOs), medical societies, public health entities, hospitals, physicians, and others.

Corporate medical directors of large health plans can communicate with counterparts in other organizations, through meetings of medical directors, professional associations, newsletters, and other activities. They should communicate internally with the pharmacy benefits managers, utilization review agents, pharmacy and therapeutics review committees, and through other means.

Standards of care articulated in HIV guidelines should be incorporated into specifications for HIV Medicaid managed care contracts.

Health Care Workers

Using the AHCPR model, ⁶ offer providers both complete versions of the clinical practice guidelines with source information, and synthesized versions of guidelines, along with simple algorithms and charts. Different care providers will want different levels of information.

12

⁶ The Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR) has created a framework for the dissemination and implementation of clinical practice guidelines. For further information, see the *Overview of Research on Clinical Practice Guideline Dissemination, Implementation and Evaluation* included in this report. See also: *Using Clinical Practice Guidelines to Evaluate Quality of Care*, AHCPR Pub. No. 95-0045, March 1995.

In addition to specific information from the clinical practice guidelines, provide referral information about available training resources: conferences, courses, print alerts, Web sites, and other sources.

Physicians and other health care providers can also be reached through teleconferences, Continuing Medical Education (CME) courses, and dinner meetings. Local opinion leaders and nationally-recognized experts are both important means of information transfer. The literature shows that physicians are more likely to accept new medical information when it is provided to them from a respected and known source.

The overall message to the low-level health care providers should be to refer patients to experts if the provider does not feel ready or able to properly administer care. Referral information should be provided. If the provider is not able to refer a patient, then he/she must take responsibility to learn about appropriate HIV care.

A letter from the Surgeon General could be sent to health care providers to "launch" dissemination efforts. Such a letter would highlight the importance of proper care for HIV disease, as well as provide fundamental principles of care and information on how to learn more. The letter could be accompanied with a bulletin from state health departments giving state-based resources for information and referral.

Increase the capacity for physician "warmlines" and hotlines to provide on-the-spot treatment information.

Providers respond well to case-based learning. This is an important model for developing curricula for physicians and other health care workers.

Incorporate the use of computers into patient care. Use automatic reminders and warnings for drug interactions, scheduling diagnostics, and suggesting treatment combinations. Studies have shown this approach to be extremely effective.

Patients/Social Service Providers

Develop patient education materials, workshops, and trainings that are culturally sensitive and target people with diverse levels of education and literacy. Models for these workshops, trainings and forums already exist at some AIDS service organizations and, where appropriate, should be duplicated. Videos, pictorial education, and pocket cards may be particularly useful for low-literacy populations.

Similarly, materials and trainings for social service providers should be developed and implemented. Again, curricula for these trainings already exist and should be used as models for expansion of these services. Use national and regional conferences, e.g. United States Conference on AIDS, to train trainers for education of patients and social service providers.

Train peer advocates to teach other patients about HIV disease and treatment. As with primary prevention, the role of peers can be immensely effective in establishing trust and providing support and education. Peer education programs, however, need good training and supervision components to be effective.

Expand the use of the AIDS Education and Training Centers (AETCs) to develop education and training services for patients and social service providers.

Develop a centralized data base for the collection of HIV treatment education materials that will allow easy access to institutions and organizations and prevent duplication of effort. This is a recommendation that was made repeatedly.

Concepts of HIV disease and treatment must be taught before specific detailed treatment information can be understood and utilized.

The internet and the World Wide Web can provide the most current versions of clinical practice guidelines. Changes should be updated regularly and highlighted. Service providers will need broader access to and training for computer services.

Roles and Responsibilities

Each work group determined that dissemination efforts require both a national and local focus. There is not one entity that can be responsible for the entire effort. Instead, each relevant entity has an important role to play in the coordination of dissemination, implementation, and evaluation.

Government

As previously stated, each workgroup stressed that a primary role of DHHS is to provide leadership and coordination of dissemination efforts. The participants felt that the impetus and direction for this effort needs to come from the Secretary with support from the White House.

A new federal entity to take responsibility for HIV information dissemination was not recommended. Instead, it was felt that one group, the DHHS Office of HIV/AIDS Policy (OHAP), could be responsible for coordinating efforts within and between all relevant HHS agencies and programs. In order for OHAP to adequately coordinate these efforts, it will need the funding, staffing and authority necessary to catalyze the various agencies' response. Each DHHS agency will have an important part to play, including the National Institutes of Health (NIH), the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDP), the Health Resources Services Administration (HRSA), the Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA), the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMSA), AHCPR, the Indian Health Service, and the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). The first step is to acknowledge the need for and importance of the dissemination effort; then, the roles and responsibilities for each DHHS program involved can be defined. From there, OHAP can work to integrate the activities of the various agencies. This effort will require funding and the DHHS should determine how much it will cost and how the funding should be obtained. Additionally, the effort will also need coordination with the National AIDS Policy Office to ensure collaboration with the Departments of Veteran's Affairs, Justice, Housing, Defense, and Education.

One important way that both the federal and state governments can demonstrate leadership is as a purchaser of health care for its employees and as the purchaser of HIV care through public programs, such as Medicaid, the VA, and Medicare. The standards of care articulated in the HIV clinical practice guidelines can be incorporated into contracts for managed care and should include evaluation components to determine contract compliance. State Medicaid Directors can use HIV treatment guidelines to determine appropriate levels of payment and/or set capitation rates.

The federal government, through the NIH and CDC, should continue to provide up-to-date information, revising the guidelines as necessary and developing routes of access to that information. The government can also develop and maintain a clearinghouse for treatment education materials. Participants did not suggest that the federal government itself develop such materials, but, rather, fund external programs to do so. The government can then provide mechanisms of access to those materials through different channels, e.g., the CDC Web site, the National Library of Medicine (NLM). There was broad agreement that a clearinghouse for educational materials would go far to provide information to patients and service providers and would reduce duplication of effort. Both federal and state governments can fund trainings for social service providers and peer educators. The government will also have an important role in the

evaluation of dissemination strategies through NIH, HCFA, SAMHSA and AHCPR. An important FDA function is to ensure that commercial efforts to promote treatment are appropriate and, when possible, not in conflict with the guidelines.

State governments can transfer information received from federal channels on to local governments and providers through symposia, toll-free numbers, and training. States can help identify local opinion leaders to present information, identify expert centers, and create referral networks. States can conduct quality assurance assessments and, using claims information, track those care givers who are providing sub-standard care and target them for education. States can fund community-based education efforts and support evaluation research.

AIDS Service Organizations

The unique infrastructure of AIDS service and education organizations across the nation provides a crucial opportunity to provide education and support to patients around treatment issues. ASOs and CBOs have a responsibility to train their staff and volunteers about relevant HIV treatment issues, to provide quality services to clients. Many of the services and programs offered at CBOs were created for patients in late-stages of illness. These programs need to be re-evaluated to bring people into services earlier in the course of the illness and to determine the needs of clients who may live longer and better with HIV, but have different and on-going needs for services, such as adherence and primary prevention support and advocacy for continuous access to care. The ways in which new developments in the treatment of HIV disease affect the provision of social services need to be constantly examined and services need to be altered appropriately as treatment changes.

ASOs are often best suited to translate and provide information for patients and assist in treatment adherence efforts. These groups can also assist in patient care by providing transportation, meals, and psycho-social support. The larger organizations should provide leadership by sharing materials and giving technical assistance. Workshops, support groups, peer counseling programs, and forums are useful ways of providing information to clients and family members. These organizations can also play an important role in educating government, academia, and the pharmaceutical industry about the needs of people with HIV/AIDS and the kinds of treatment education they require.

Health Care Provider/Payors

The ultimate responsibility for the implementation of the clinical practice guidelines falls onto health care delivery systems. While the dissemination efforts may begin at a national level, comprehensive

implementation requires that each health care delivery site – from large health maintenance organizations, to hospitals and clinics, to the physician's private practice – find methods to incorporate and update the standard of care. Research shows that to be successful, systems for guideline implementation must be developed within health care institutions, as opposed to being developed externally. The use of local opinion leaders is shown to be particularly important in getting practitioners to accept and incorporate new information. Providing copies of materials is not enough, as the implementation of new standards of care requires behavior change on the part of health care providers. Structures to assist in that change, which include information provision, reminder mechanisms, the use of performance measures, report cards, and quality assurance evaluations, are all important and useful.

Providers should recognize the important role that social service providers can play in providing support for treatment adherence and addressing psycho-social issues. These services not only enhance treatment, but, in fact, may be the key to its overall success. Therefore, payors and providers should consider partnering with these agencies and incorporating these services into coverage.

Professional organizations which represent providers and medical professionals can develop education programs and promote the use of HIV treatment guidelines. These associations can encourage practitioners to learn about and treat HIV disease, fight against HIV-related stigma and discrimination, and utilize their networks to disseminate updated information.

The Pharmaceutical Industry

Perhaps more than any other entity, industry has spent considerable time and resources to educate providers and consumers about their products, and, in doing so, has developed considerable expertise in marketing information to specific target audiences. Much can be learned from industry's experience. Industry also has excellent knowledge of those providers offering HIV care and should make information about their networks available for dissemination strategies. Industry should continue to provide funding for educational programs for providers and patients. Industry has done much over the past few years to learn from patient advocates and community organizations. This collaboration should continue. It was suggested that an unrestricted pooled fund for educational efforts be coordinated by the Pharmaceutical Researchers and Manufacturers Association. The pharmaceutical industry also has considerable expertise in evaluating dissemination efforts. This expertise should be mined in developing evaluation of guideline

dissemination strategies.

One critique of industry raised by workshop participants is the issue of promotion of a particular product which may be in conflict with the guideline. It was suggested that industry develop materials that promote the overall approach to therapy, rather than those which are product specific.

Evaluation

The evaluation of efforts to disseminate and implement clinical practice guidelines is an essential component of the dissemination process. Evaluation will determine if the information to be disseminated has been received by the target audience, whether the information has been incorporated into care, and, ultimately, if the information has had a beneficial effect on patients' health and the use of health care resources. Further, research shows that implementation strategies must include built-in evaluation components to be successful, because practitioners are much more likely to incorporate new practices if their behaviors are measured. Evaluation strategies need to considered as dissemination and implementation strategies are being designed. Communication needs to be accompanied by messages and mechanisms for accountability and monitoring. Performance standards, contract specifications, and purchasing guidelines that clearly incorporate these specifics are necessary. These specifications need to be clear and easily measurable and focused. One of the challenges of developing evaluations is the fact that the guidelines change rapidly.

⁷ Harr DS, Balas EA, Mitchell J. Developing quality indicators as educational tools to measure the implementation of clinical practice guidelines, Am J Med Qual 1996; 11(4): pp.179-185.

The use of report cards at each level to monitor physician performance was recommended, as was the use of chart reviews. Frequency of viral load and t-cell testing and reviews of prescription data were recommended as useful performance measures. Research into how patients comprehend, retain, and incorporate medical information is also needed. Partnerships between academic institutions and community-based organizations may provide the best opportunity for this research.

Summaries of Conference Presentations

Welcome and Introductory Remarks

David Barr, Director, Forum for Collaborative HIV Research (FCHR), on behalf of the FCHR and the Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation, welcomed participants to the conference. He discussed the purpose and goals of the workshop, outlined the agenda ,and described the participants, who included representatives from federal government agencies, health departments, Medicaid programs, community-based organizations (CBOs), national organizations that represent communities, health care practitioners, HIV researchers, communications experts, and representatives from health care plans, private sector health care management, and the pharmaceutical industry.

Sophia W. Chang, MD, MPH, Director of HIV/AIDS Programs, Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation, noted that the process of development of HIV guidelines is a dynamic one; the April 17, 1998 issue of *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly (MMWR)* is the most recent of several updated guidelines. The recent guidelines for the use of antiretroviral drugs were developed with the best clinical science in mind. Now one must consider the dissemination and implementation of the guidelines, financing of treatments, and other policy questions. The key question is how to best transfer the information in the guidelines into practice. HIV has had a tremendous impact on clinical care and systems of care, and this is another example of asking how we mobilize those same forces that have been used historically throughout the course of the HIV epidemic to help this paradigm shift happen.

The urgency of disseminating the HIV treatment guidelines is profound because improper antiretroviral treatment has tremendous public health implications, especially via the development of resistant strains. We will probably be very effective in keeping HIV experts and high-volume providers up to date. The next tier of providers doesn't have as high a volume of patients but still provides a significant percentage of HIV care in this country, and there is the base of the pyramid with providers who will see 1-5 HIV patients. A key question is how to get across the message of HIV care to these providers and to assure that they do no harm. The answer to this problem is not as simple as referral to HIV because this isn't logistically possible for many individuals in this country. There is a confluence of dynamics or interests that may help us assure that we do no harm, and Dr. Chang asked the participants to consider this as part of their charge.

Eric Goosby, MD, Director of the HHS Office of HIV/AIDS Policy and Lynne Mofensen, MD, Associate Branch Chief for Clinical Research at the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, then provided the participants with overviews of the three guidelines for the use of HIV antiretroviral therapy. Those presentations are not summarized here and readers are referred to the guidelines for detailed information.⁸

The Need for Dissemination of the HIV Clinical Practice Guidelines

Dr. Charles van der Horst, Associate Professor of Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, provided an overview of the importance and difficulty of dissemination of the HIV clinical practice guidelines. He is the principal investigator of the largest AIDS Clinical Trial Unit (ACTU), has treated patients since 1981, and currently has 160 patients. While Dr. Van der Horst's comments highlighted how the guidelines are an important tool in teaching physicians and patients about proper treatment, he also discussed in detail the difficulties of implementing the guidelines into practice, flaws in the development of the guidelines, and the omission of important information about adherence and other factors. He provided suggestions for improving the guidelines and for more useful implementation.

One central point was the difficulty of applying the guidelines to such a diverse patient population. He stated that despite the findings in clinical studies, in his practice, he has found that after a year of providing HAART, barely 50 percent of patients are achieving undetectable viral loads (at 400 copies/ml). For many patients, HIV is but one of many problems. The guidelines do not take multiple diagnoses into account, do not discuss the effect of mental health problems on the proper use of anti-viral therapy, or acknowledge the problems of drug resistance due to suboptimal treatment promoted in former guidelines. Dr. Van der Horst challenged the participants to use the

⁸There are four HIV-related treatment guidelines: Report to the NIH Panel to Define Principles of Therapy of HIV Infection and Guidelines for the use of Antiretroviral Agents in HIV-Infected Adults and Adolescents, MMWR, April 24, 1998, Vol. 47. No. RR-5; Recommendations for the Use of Antiretroviral Drugs in Pregnant Women Infected with HIV-1 for Maternal Health and for Reducing Perinatal HIV-1 Transmission in the U.S., MMWR, Jan.30, 1998, Vol. 47, Po.RR-2, Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in Pediatric HIV Infection, MMWR, April 17, 1998, Vol.47, No.RR-4; 1997 USPHS/IDSA Guidelines for the Prevention of Opportunistic Infections in Persons Infected with HIV, MMWR, June 27, 1998, Vol.46, No. RR-12

guidelines as best as possible but also to remember that there is still much we do not know about HIV disease and treatment.

Dr. Van der Horst addressed problems in the context in which the guidelines are to be applied. For example, he stated that the The AIDS Drug Assistance Program (ADAP) in North Carolina has accepted no new patients in the last six months. Therefore, programs to provide access to treatment are not in synch with the guidelines. He questioned how complicated antiretroviral treatment can be appropriately provided when there are still doctors who aren't prescribing a \$30 per year trimethoprim/sulfa treatment for *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia (PCP) prophylaxis. Below are highlights from his presentation.

Reasons why the guidelines are important:

The number of drugs is enormous.

There are complicated drug interactions.

Improper treatment can cause the development of drug-resistant viral strains that can render treatments ineffective for patients and be transmitted to others.

Disease staging is difficult for the average physician.

There is conflicting data that is hard to translate.

Drug toxicity is quite high.

The guidelines can help with starting therapy, switching therapy, strategies to improve adherence, strategies to manage toxicity, manage drug interactions, control costs, and prevent transmission.

Criticisms of the guidelines include:

They do not contain information on some newer drugs, including those available through expanded access programs.

The guidelines do not discuss metabolic complications of HIV therapy, such as lipodystrophy, diabetes mellitus, hypertriglyceridemia, and hypercholesterolemia.

The guidelines were issued almost a year after the therapies were available, heavily prescribed and advertised. Many patients were improperly treated before the guidelines were released and are now resistant to drugs.

Our need for guidelines exceeds our ability to create them. Doctors don't change their practices that fast.

The guidelines were based on small, short studies in highly selective, highly motivated patients and do not necessarily reflect the impact of treatment in a "real world" context. Also, the panelists were not necessarily those practitioners caring for a large population of patients.

The guidelines are vague and at the same time, overly complicated. Physicians don't want to know about clinical studies. They want to know what drug to give at what dose, and if there are complications to what drugs should the patient be switched.

They say providers should treat people with new infections, but they don't say for how long.

The guidelines recommend stopping therapy for people who never achieve undetectable viral load, yet there are those whose CD4+ counts rapidly increased on this therapy. The diversity of medical arguments and opinions with regards to this issue is vast.

The guidelines advocate working with the patient on adherence but provide no practical information for the provider on how to do this.

There is no patient education material attached to the guidelines.

The guidelines don't address speaking to patients about prevention of transmission.

The guidelines do not address how to deal with lack of social support, addiction, psychiatric illness, medication toxicity issues, and confidentiality issues. These are essential issues in order for the treatment strategy to be successful.

The guidelines do not address the many complications which must be considered in determining whether a patient should be on treatment. For example, would it be wise to put a retarded schizophrenic patient on triple drug therapy? The implications in the guidelines are that it would be unethical not to put this person on triple therapy. A person with biliary cirrhosis is undetectable on ZDV + 3TC. It would not be wise to put this patient on a PI, yet the guidelines imply this is unethical. The guidelines are held up as legal documents, the equivalent of an expert witness. They imply that a physician is undertaking malpractice if he/she doesn't prescribe triple therapy.

Dr. Van der Horst raised questions about the quality and quantity of data used to develop guideline recommendations. Specifically he questioned the statement that patients who have failed nelfinavir can successful use indinavir or ritonavir, and the equivalence of saquinivir with other protease inhibitors. He also questioned why delaviradine at 12 pills a day was found to be equivalent to nevaripine at 2 pills a day.

Addressing the problems of patient adherence to treatment was discussed in detail. First, it was recommended that the guidelines provide suggested strategies for assisting in adherence efforts. These include: (1) the provision of patient education materials that are simple to read and understand; (2) the distribution of pill boxes, timers, and reminder cards; (3) the use of mock regimens before starting therapy to help the patient determine if he or she is able to adhere to the regimen; (4) calls to patients to monitor and encourage adherence; (5) show patients progress in their viral load and t-cell counts to provide motivation to adhere to treatment; (6) work with case managers and support groups to support adherence efforts; and (7) devise simpler regimens. New

data showed that ddI monotherapy was as good as ZDV + 3TC in patients with low viral loads, and undetectable viral load was achieved for 48 weeks.

Finally, several suggestions for dissemination were offered, including the preparation of patient education materials, simplified versions of the guidelines for physicians, and the use of videotapes for patient education. Participants were cautioned against over-reliance on the internet and other computer-based formats of information distribution, as many patients do not have access to these tools and many physicians do not use them. The value of effective advertising was stressed, as long as the advertising promotes the overall guidelines, as opposed to any one particular product. Finally, Dr. Van der Horst described a successful effort to disseminate HIV guidelines in North Carolina. When the ACTG 076 study results were completed, NIH immediately issued a press release. The Department of Health immediately ordered all prenatal caregivers, both private and public, to start offering HIV testing to pregnant women. They encouraged all women to get tested, and the Committee decided to make treatment available to all pregnant women in North Carolina. This resulted in less than 5 percent perinatal transmission in the state. Guidelines can work!

Community Patterns of Care for HIV Disease

Dr. Carol Brosgart, Medical Director, East Bay AIDS Center, discussed preliminary data from CDC-funded COMPACT 4 survey, "Community Patterns of Care for HIV Disease," conducted by the Community Consortium of HIV Providers, a group of 250 physicians in the San Francisco Bay area who provide community-based clinical research. The Consortium was concerned that in the absence of treatment guidelines, there was no standard community practice of care, and decided to look at community patterns of care for HIV disease by conducting a survey. What this survey showed was that the experience of the provider made a difference in the kind of care that physicians reported they were recommending to their patients.

The survey tool was a self-administered questionnaire. Questions were asked about the screening and prophylaxis for opportunistic infections (OIs), antiretroviral therapy, the use of viral load testing, when to begin therapy, what regimens were used, and when to change therapy. The antiretroviral issues were included in nine different scenarios that tested all of the elements of the guidelines. The Consortium also tried to determine how providers get their HIV-related treatment information.

To prevent bias, providers outside of those in clinical trials groups were included. Unfortunately, there is no national registry or organization of physicians providing HIV care. In the interest of time, the group approached Glaxo-Wellcome, which from marketing data has a list of close to 30,000 physicians who prescribed either ZDV or 3TC in 1995, 1996, and 1997. This list was also segregated by volume of care. They chose a sample of 2,053 physicians from this list and created a sampling frame of 1,000 physicians who provided a high volume of care and 1,000 who had relatively few HIV patients and obtained a 50.3 percent response rate. The focus of the survey was on the impact of the new federal Antiretroviral Guidelines and the OI Guidelines. It was conducted between October 1997 and January 1998.

Preliminary data showed that by medical specialty, 51 percent were infectious disease specialists, 28 percent were internists, 15 percent were family practitioners, and much smaller percentages were pediatricians, hematologists, oncologists, or OB-GYNs. Forty-eight percent provided care in a private practice, 15 percent in public universities, 10 percent in nonprofit community hospitals, 9 percent in private university hospitals, and 9percent in nonprofit community clinics. The rest practiced in the VA hospitals, public health clinics, and health maintenance organizations (HMOs). A variety of settings was surveyed with the exception of the criminal justice system.

By volume of care 27 percent cared for over 100 patients; 17 percent cared for 51-100 patients; 22 percent cared for 21-50 patients; 21 percent cared for 6-20 patients; and 13 percent cared for 1-5 patients. By years of experience with HIV patients only 2 percent had less than 1 year of experience, and 44 percent had greater than 10 years of experience. Examining the percentage of patients that have HIV in the provider's practice, for 22 percent of the physicians, greater than 75 percent of their patients were HIV patients. This is in contrast with 34 percent of physicians whose HIV patients represent less than 10 percent of their practice. The following are preliminary findings:

In the univariate analysis, volume of HIV patients and medical specialty training were significantly associated with whether the physicians' self-reported prescribing practices were consistent with the current Federal guidelines.

In the bivariate analysis, when volume of HIV patients was controlled for medical specialty training or vice versa, both the volume of HIV patients and medical specialty training were significant independent predictors for whether physicians' self-reported prescribing practices were consistent with the current Federal guidelines. Intuitively, infectious disease-trained physicians were very consistent with implementing OI prophylaxis guidelines.

What resources do physicians use to learn about HIV-related therapies?

Seventy-five percent use medical journals, 60 percent use consultations with other physicians, over 50 percent attend conferences, and over 50 percent use AIDS journals. *MMWR* was used by only 40 percent; AIDSLINE, MEDLINE, drug company bulletins, FDA and NIH bulletins were used by fewer physicians. Survey recipients could indicate more than one resource.

What guidelines do physicians read out of those published 1993-1997?

Five percent reported having read none of these guidelines!

The 1997 antiretroviral guidelines were read by less than 50 percent and the OI Guidelines were read by slightly over 50 percent of physicians.

Since triple therapy has been available, higher volume providers have read at least some of the guidelines publications, whereas many of the low-volume providers reported reading none of the publications.

Infectious disease physicians were more likely to have current and past guidelines.

Analysis of resources for learning about HIV-related therapies:

It is more likely that a high-volume provider (greater than 100 patients) will read an AIDS advocacy newsletter.

This trend holds for use of AIDS journals, AIDSLINE, conferences, *MMWR*, NIH bulletins, and Web sites.

High-volume providers were more likely to have read the guidelines than low-volume providers.

There were differences by specialty in who had accessed resources, but these weren't as great as the differences by volume of care.

Infectious disease physicians and hematologists/oncologists were significantly more likely to have read the guidelines than the other physicians.

Scores on the clinical scenario tests where treatment was to reflect the guidelines varied. No one scored 100 percent on the tests; this is most likely because the guidelines don't quite reflect clinical practice. The median composite scores were around 67 percent. When one looked at median composite scores by patient volume or by medical specialty, there was a trend showing significant differences for physician correctness with federal guidelines and self-reported adherence to federal guidelines.

In summary, when a number of analyses are conducted, there are significant differences and predictors as to who is going to be able to report what are the elements of the guidelines. There are also significant differences in how individuals receive their treatment information. One might

conclude that only physicians caring for more than 100 HIV-infected patients should be allowed to care for HIV patients and only if they are infectious disease-trained. However, this is not reality because there is an epidemic that is not static and the demographics are changing. Those responsible for dissemination and implementation of the guidelines must critically analyze how they are going to disseminate them, whether this means of dissemination is the preferred means for the way physicians obtain their information, and whether those physicians receiving the guidelines implement them in practice. Further studies could determine the exact journals that physicians are reading to focus dissemination efforts and whether low-volume providers consulted high-volume providers. This study will add to the current dialogue regarding the organization of health care delivery for patients with HIV disease and the credentialing of HIV providers.

Patient Comprehension and Retention of Medical Information

Dr. Seth Kalishman, Associate Professor of Medicine, Center for AIDS Intervention Research, University of Wisconsin, described patient factors in retaining medical information and their implication for successful use of HIV therapies. He presented recently collected data from an AIDS Survival Project in Atlanta sponsored by the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH). As background information he noted that information received by patients at the time of notification of HIV test results is rarely retained, citing data showing that only 91 percent of patients immediately after medication instruction were able to correctly recall the medications and regimens.

A variety of factors are associated with information retention:

Motivation is a factor and one would expect this to be high in HIV patients.

Neurocognitive deficits because of HIV infection, long-term substance abuse, and other lifestyle factors play a role.

Psychiatric illnesses are known to be high in this population. Psychiatric populations don't adhere to their psychiatric medication, so it is not surprising that they don't adhere to HIV regimens.

Active substance abuse is also a key factor.

A critical patient characteristic that is important in information retention is literacy.

Patient literacy and its relation to adherence were studied. Literacy was of interest because it is well studied and encompasses a number of factors including social class and education level and is a good measure for how well people can understand and retain information. Studies of diabetes patients showed that 47 percent of these people had inadequate functional health literacy. Patients with lower health literacy report a variety of poor health outcomes including adherence to medications.

The AIDS Survival Project undertook a study of functional health literacy and its relationship to HIV treatment adherence in a population in a community center in Atlanta. Participants were recruited through community outreach and not through clinics. The population was 70 percent men, 65 percent African American; 50 percent had a history of incarceration, 28 percent had a history of injection drug use, and a variety of sexual orientations were reported. Seventy-eight percent were diagnosed with AIDS, 36 percent reported an undetectable viral load (but blood studies were not done to confirm this), and 23 percent reported not currently taking antiretroviral therapies.

The Test of Functional Health Literacy in Adults (TOFHLA) was used as the instrument in this study. This measure was adapted for the purpose of the HIV study using passages with fill-ins for medical instructions and an HIV-specific passage was developed. There was a TOFHLA numeracy scale given to the participants as an external validator of the reading measure. In these examples people must perform mental calculations to obtain the correct answer to the problem. This test was administered in an interview where medication instructions were given in written form and questions were asked orally. To define literacy the TOFHLA passages were used, and 26 percent of the sample received a score under 93 percent. Six percent couldn't even perform by random guessing (0-50 percent correct); 4 percent scored 51-75 percent, 16 percent scored 76-92 percent, and 74 percent received scores of 93-100 percent. The project considered 80 percent correct as the cutoff for literacy.

Those with low literacy scores were less educated, scored lower on the numeracy TOFHLA, and scored lower on the HIV reading passage. There was internal consistency and so people deemed lower in literacy probably were so.

Treatment adherence was calculated using 2-day recall of medications taken. Participants' medication schedules were reviewed with the patients and checked against a chart stating what the regimen should be. The test administrators tried to reconcile discrepancies since physicians do deviate from the guidelines. A calendar of events for the past week was used to aid in the 2-day recall. Adherence was calculated as the number of pills taken divided by the total pills prescribed. A 2-hour window in scheduling was allowed (plus or minus 1 hour) and low versus high-literacy participants were compared. There was a significant difference in adherence between the lower literacy participants and the higher literacy ones. It is important to note that even the higher literacy patients weren't completely adherent. For the lower literacy patients, 1 in 5 was off schedule for one of the three antiretroviral drugs in the past 2 days. Not all people were on three drugs, but the vast majority were.

Literacy and Treatment Adherence

None	58%	77%
1 drug	9%	9%
2 drugs	12%	3%
3 drugs	21%	11%

Viewing adherence in terms of the number of pills taken, the high-literacy participants were 94 percent adherent and the low-literacy participants were 88 percent adherent. Of the high-literacy participants, combining the number of times that one was off schedule with the number of times that one missed medications, the mean was 90 percent adherence. For the low-literacy participants, this value was 84 percent adherence. Of the low-literacy participants 7 percent didn't know their CD4+ count and 35 percent didn't know their viral load. This is compared to 1 percent and 13 percent, respectively, for the high-literacy participants.

The logistic regression data analysis for adherence was described. Literacy was a significant predictor for nonadherence. In the multivariate model, predictors of nonadherence included race, patient distress, attitudes towards the physician (trust), and literacy. Literacy was a better index of adherence than education.

Reasons for missing medications in the past month were similar to the general population but in terms of the differences between lower and higher literacy, reasons included having too many pills to take, lack of confidence in the medication's efficacy, depression, and the desire to "cleanse the body." The lower literacy participants don't admit to not being able to follow instructions; being illiterate is a shameful thing and one isn't likely to admit not being able to read.

There are many other factors that influence adherence. For example, some people were adherent during the week when social services provide food and weren't adherent on the weekends when they must find food on their own. Some illiterate people were 90 percent adherent; people can learn if they are taught! Some people were confused about the medication instructions and were very compliant with what they believed to be the instructions versus what the instructions were. Conclusions from this data and the literature include:

Several factors will affect information retention. Many of these factors are prevalent in HIV/AIDS populations.

Health literacy very likely interferes with adherence to complex regimens. This calls for literacy-based intervention and careful attention to literacy for materials that are disseminated to patients.

Efforts to disseminate treatment guidelines to people with HIV must attend to the literacy issues.

On the basis of prevention studies with this same population, information presented by video may offer a viable medium of dissemination of treatment guidelines. Videotapes are no more expensive than glossy brochures; a 10-minute videotape has been demonstrated to be an effective HIV prevention educator in a variety of nonliterate populations. Videotapes are inexpensive to produce and to distribute. Comprehension of the language still must be addressed in the use of videotapes. The cultural and contextual settings of the patient versus that of his or her provider were not taken into account in this study but are most likely a factor because the correlation between adherence and how patients felt about their physicians was quite high.

Regionalized and contextualized brochures or videotapes are needed. For example, flashy videos turn off some people (adults) and one loses credibility with them. Flashy videos are needed for children to keep their attention. Efforts to regionalize the information must be made. (For example, don't just use the same text but change the actors.) Local patients and providers are much better to use. Race is not so much an issue as social class and local culture.

Target Audiences: Identification and Needs Assessment

Health Care Providers

Dr. Linda Frank, Director, Pennsylvania AIDS Education Training Center, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, discussed the needs of health care providers for HIV treatment education and technical assistance/consultation. Education and training is needed to address many issues, including the complicated and constantly evolving treatment regimens, need for frequent clinical updates, behavioral interventions and skills, complex psychosocial issues associated with clinical management. Methods of assessment and facilitation of client adherence should be included in health care provider training. All of these educational priorities for health care providers assist in assuring access to the current standard of care for all.

Health care providers require clinically focused and ongoing educational programs, technical assistance, and consultation. One such program is the national AIDS Education and Training Center (AETC) Program, which is part of the Ryan White Care Act. Unfortunately, the AETC program makes up less than 1 percent of the budget for Ryan White programs. For the AETCs to maintain and expand their role in the dissemination of new treatment information, additional resources will be required. The role of the national AETC programs is to facilitate and/or provide education, training, and consultation in assessing, developing, and evaluating clinical standards of care and

clinical support services, and to facilitate the development of strategies to conduct clinically focused outcome evaluation. The AETCs are able to offer education and training that will improve HIV services delivery in urban, rural, and suburban areas.

Health care providers targeted by the AETC include Ryan White-funded programs, community and migrant health centers, health care for the homeless, medically underserved areas (both urban and rural), institutional settings (including jails/prisons), drug treatment programs, and providers of the poor and minorities. It is especially important that the AETCs target education to health care providers within managed care systems, particularly those who have little experience with HIV care.

Dr. Frank defined clinical education as "education approaches that include problem-based didactic and skill building education interventions for clinical care providers." These approaches aim to increase access and quality of clinical treatment and care framed by the established and evolving clinical guidelines and standards of care. Educational content should include discussion of specific drugs and combinations, drug interactions, monitoring methods, readiness assessment of patients, initiation of therapy, changing therapy, adherence approaches, psychosocial impact, managed care issues, and clinical outcome evaluation. Formats for education should include case-based learning, small group activities, regional cluster training programs to address local issues, self-instruction modules, print alerts, and distance learning.

Dr. Frank defined technical assistance as "a process by which a technical assistance consultant (expert, specialist, peer) provides resources, consultation, and/or guidance in developing, monitoring, evaluating, or improving service delivery, performance, efficiency, or cost effectiveness of a program or provider." This technical assistance/consultation should discuss clinical performance indicators, clinical pathways, quality assurance, managed care integration into primary medical care, behavioral change interventions to increase compliance or risk reduction, case-based clinical consultation, team development, and clinical program evaluation. The formats for this technical assistance should include such approaches as clinical on-site training, clinical small group focused training, clinical discipline-specific training, clinical miniresidencies and preceptorships, distance learning, and phone/fax consultation.

Types of clinical technical assistance and consultation include client-centered case consultation, which focuses on the clinical management of an individual client/patient. Many formats can be used to do this. There are also consulted-centered case consultations where the individual provider is

coached regarding improving the clinical management of patients or provided with an update on current treatments. Program-centered administrative consultation focuses on specific organizational issues or administrative problems within a clinical unit, which may be a barrier to accessing quality HIV care. Consultee-centered administrative consultation is aimed at providing assistance to the clinical leadership of a clinical program related to the functioning of the director or other members of leadership.

Evaluation of health provider training and consultation activities includes several factors. Any change in a providers clinical practice may be related to a specific educational program or from seeking case-based consultation from more experienced providers as the need arises. It is critical that those providing HIV care have access to HIV experts. The national AETC program provides a vehicle for providers to obtain such assistance and guidance. All clinical programs should be involved in evaluating care delivery. Evaluation includes a "systemic collection of information about activities, characteristics, and/or outcomes of programs/systems to make judgements about the program or system; to improve programs/systems effectiveness; and to assist in making decisions about future programming or approaches."

The two types of evaluation are process evaluation and outcome evaluation. It is critically important that HIV health care providers are provided with opportunities to participate in evaluation activities to monitor and explore a means of improving clinical care. In terms of educating health care providers, evaluation provides a means of ascertaining how well programs or systems are moving toward achieving their objectives, identification of problems or barriers, and identification of successes and accomplishments. Outcome evaluation includes assessment focused on collecting information or providing summary statements about whether a program/system achieved its objectives and assessment of the impact of the program on the intended beneficiaries. We must determine whether the guidelines are being disseminated to those who need them and whether or not they are making a difference in terms of the quality of care that people are receiving in the primary care setting.

Patients

Mr. Billy Pick, Minority Initiatives Counselor, San Francisco Department of Public Health, discussed the HIV information dissemination needs of patients. The diversity of the communities affected by HIV makes it difficult to generalize about what patients need from the guidelines. He was reluctant to draw on his personal experience, because he felt it is not typical of most patients as

he is highly motivated to learn and has access to much information. He cautioned the participants to keep in mind that some patients do not want to know things, and no matter how much education you give them they will not learn anything. Information must be put into the context of what patients need holistically. Where does HIV treatment guideline information fall in terms of socioeconomic issues and social justice? For people with HIV this is really important on a daily basis, although this might not be for the population in general. A small cadre of patients has access to treatment information through the AIDS newsletters and other treatment information sources. What the group must focus on is patients who don't want to know all about the treatment guidelines or who can't because their lives are a little bit different.

The group should focus on the complexity of the information that is distributed to clients. He advised targeting information to different groups. If one is discussing the antiretroviral guidelines with a woman and she becomes pregnant, then there are many more issues to discuss. Consider if the information is going to overwhelm clients. He said that when patients become overwhelmed with information they become frustrated and you will lose them to care because they will be embarrassed that they can't learn the information, their self esteem will plummet, and their level of participation will decrease. The group must not only consider what these patients should learn, but must also be aware that once the information is learned by patients it can become set in stone. He stated that the best way education happens is from other patients; the problem with this is that often peers disseminate out-of-date material. There is a danger in how we educate patients because of this.

He said that we need to do an assessment on various groups and what they want from their physicians. Many patients expect the doctors to know the treatments, and their sense of empowerment lies in the fact that they showed up for their appointment. Information should also be available to patients who do want to know the guidelines, but many of these patients will obtain the information anyway through other sources. He suggested proritizing what to teach people. Although attempts have been made to simplify the guidelines, they are still too complicated for many people. Provide simple adherence strategies.

He was concerned about the undereducated patients and those who don't have as many resources as patients have had in the past. These are the patients that will be problematic for the group and the ones who should be addressed.

Social Service Providers

Moises Agosto, Director of Treatment Advocacy at the National Minority AIDS Council was unable to attend. David Barr, FCHR, spoke about service providers from the perspective of when he ran treatment education programs at the Gay Mens' Health Crisis (GMHC). He described the intake process for new clients at GMHC before the development of the treatment education program. New clients were interviewed and a lengthy form was completed in a process that took approximately 2.5 hours. Those providing the intake interviews were social workers, and psychosocial issues were the major focus of the intake form. Buried within this process were questions about t-cell count and medications. The intake staff had much training, but never had received training about HIV beyond how it is transmitted. No one had ever trained the counselors about PCP prophylaxis, so when a new client would state he/she had 150 t-cells and did not list PCP prophylaxis as a prescribed medication, nothing was done. An important opportunity to advocate for a client and prevent a medical crisis was wasted. To correct this, a training on treatment issues was developed and made mandatory for all staff.

There is an opportunity in HIV disease that one doesn't have with asthma, diabetes, or cancer, because there is a community-based infrastructure that provides us with the opportunity to contribute support and education to patients in a way unlike ever before. Lessons have been learned, particularly coming out of prevention education, in how one provides support, care, and education to people. Much work on behavior change may carry over into adherence and treatment education. Every single person that has an interaction with the person with HIV has the opportunity to ask the patient about medication-taking behaviors. Think of the case manager, the drug counselor, the resident coordinator, the peer educator, the support group facilitator, and the receptionist as a team. These people have the opportunity to look for red flags and to provide support and treatment information. Maybe the trust level is higher with these people than it is with the physician. Maybe this person has more time to spend with the client than the physician does. Perhaps this person resembles the client and talks more like the client. The opportunities here are enormous, provided that funding is available along with good training and supervision for staff and volunteers.

Health Care Providers/Payors

Dr. John Ludden, Senior Vice-President, Harvard Pilgrim Health Care, discussed implementing HIV guidelines in the managed care setting. In his experience an emphasis on measurement has superseded giving physicians specific instructions on how to provide care. Without measurement of

the use of a guideline, physicians are much less likely to implement them. Performance measurements should be considered an essential part of any guideline implementation plan.

It is important to start with a target, remembering that guidelines serve goals and not the other way around. Targets are explicit goals such as performance, outcomes, clinical utilization, and cost. Targets need to be measurable. If achievements are measured over time, one can determine if conditions improved, but not easily compare conditions from one practice or individual to another. If measures are to be comparable across the country then a large process must be developed like the Health Plan Employee Data and Information Set (HEDIS). One must decide the importance of being able to compare targets, because specifying the measurement parameters is complicated. Simplicity and cost of measurement are important considerations. Time is a valuable commodity for physicians and they are often reluctant to take on additional tasks. However, physicians will seek to meet targets if given an incentive. Monetary incentives work well. Physicians are also quite responsive to visible measured performance (e.g., posting on a wall who is using monotherapy and how many cases this is being used for).

Dr. Ludden provided asthma examples to show how setting targets can affect performance. A difference between asthma and HIV is that in asthma the best practices are known, and there are simple outcomes that can be measured such as how much school is missed for children or how much time someone spends in the hospital. Once a target was set and measured, the number of days spent in the hospital by patients went down. Underneath that targeted change in asthma performance was a series of best practices that were also measured (e.g., what percentage of people use steroid inhalers, etc).

There are many interests competing with HIV for time and resources within the managed care organizations. Managed care organizations are most likely to examine diseases or health conditions that are high volume, high utilization, or high cost as priorities. Currently, HIV disease is not high or present on that list of priorities. In terms of receiving the coordinated attention aimed toward a national target, it will be very difficult. Goals for quality improvement include:

Set a target, then prepare a simple guideline.

Improve clinical practice results.

Make improvements through measured performance. Incentives or competition to achieve compliance with a known treatment or practice will lead to improvements in a region or setting.

Recognize that this systematic practice is what HMOs and clinical managed care plans do best.

Current HIV Treatment Information Dissemination Efforts

Federal Government

Deborah Katz, R.N., Director, Office of Program Operations and Scientific Information, National Institute of Allergies and Infectious Disease (NIAID), described the role of the federal government in HIV/AIDS treatment information. The positive aspects of the federal government's involvement in guidelines dissemination are its influence on third-party payors and policy makers. Government is also able to undertake high volume/high expense activities such as operating hotlines and clearinghouses. The negative aspects of federal government involvement are that not all people trust the government. Anything that happens in the government has a need for review and approval, and this takes a long time. Political oversight is necessary, and this affects what words are used and practices that are mentioned in the guidelines.

An overview of agency involvement in HIV/AIDS information dissemination was provided. These agencies include the CDC, HRSA, SAMHSA, HCFA, NIH, AHCPR, and the FDA. The key problem is that no single agency has the responsibility for AIDS education information dissemination. The current system requires close cooperation/collaboration. There are problems with overlap and duplication, and there are big gaps. In particular, very little is done targeting patients for treatment education.

The agencies involved in guidelines dissemination are CDC, NIH, and HRSA, whose involvement is major; and SAMHSA, HCFA, and the Indian Health Service, with less involvement. AHCPR is no longer actively involved in the process for HIV/AIDS guidelines. Currently, in guidelines dissemination there are individual agency efforts and coordinated efforts. Individual efforts are being made by SAMHSA, by HCFA with their mailing to Medicaid participants, by CDC through the MMWR, by HRSA with their physician warmline and the AETCs, and by the NIH with the development of the guidelines and outreach to the research community.

A combined federal effort is the HIV/AIDS Treatment Information Service (ATIS). This service provides federally approved treatment guidelines for HIV/AIDS on the internet. The most recent version is always available at http://www.hivatis.org. The government wanted this service separate from the toll-free number (1-800-TRIALSA) where people call to obtain information about clinical trials to begin to distinguish between clinical trials and care in the minds of the public. There is also

a toll-free number that is staffed by bilingual information specialists who provide information on the guidelines. Calls to this service and hits on the Web site keep increasing.

A DHHS satellite broadcast series on HIV/AIDS-related topics was a collaborative effort that was made under the guidance of HRSA with many other agencies getting involved. The first broadcast was on the adult treatment guidelines. This broadcast went to close to 400 sites with an audience of 32,000 and another 10,000 in delayed broadcasts. There were also many requests for videos of the broadcast. This isn't a lot of outreach, but it is outreach by a group of federal agencies that wanted to make an effort to disseminate the guidelines. The broadcast began with a didactic presentation about the NIH principles of therapy, an overview of the guidelines, and DHHS policy. This was followed by a presentation and discussion of several case studies. This segment resulted in an overwhelming response from people calling in to ask advice on particular cases. The next broadcast will be July 22, 1998 on the pediatric guidelines.

State Government

Dr. Bruce Agins, Medical Director, New York State AIDS Institute, provided an overview of current HIV treatment information dissemination efforts by state governments, of which there are many. The challenge at the state level is to promote and translate the guidelines for people to implement them. There are four major activities that occur at the state level: development, dissemination, implementation, and monitoring. Whether or not the state develops the guidelines, they do need to promote them.

Promotion of the guidelines can occur through many means, including:

Obtaining buy-in at the local level.

Engaging professional societies.

Building on the rapport that already exists at the state level with the medical community.

Coordinating with the local health units whether it is county or city health departments.

Co-authoring on local versions of guidelines with local medical groups such as in California and New Jersey.

The states play a key role in dissemination through:

Coordination of activities.

Distribution of the guidelines rapidly through their existing systems.

Development of a strategic plan for dissemination and implementation.

Use of connections with local health units.

The Institute of Medicine and its report on guidelines in 1992 defined implementation as "programs and activities that take guidelines out of the abstract phase of development into the actual world of health care decision-making and action." This is also the challenge that is faced in HIV guidelines implementation. There are a number of vehicles for disseminating and implementing the guidelines. There are educational programs, consultation services, use of local advisory panels and local opinion leaders as champions, formal distribution programs, convening providers to review and approve the guidelines, and monitoring and analysis of implementation. Quality-of-care monitoring is a key role for the state. The state can also issue reminders to providers, support patient-mediated interventions at community-based organizations, and conduct surveys.

Factors influencing the activities in a state include first and foremost HIV prevalence. Other factors include the budget dedicated to HIV activities, the governmental structure itself (e.g., is there a separate AIDS unit devoted to education and guidelines development, or is it integrated with other activities that might dilute HIV-specific activities?); the size of the ADAP program and whether there is a need for interventions related to that program that drive the clinical guidelines process, the history of the state's role in regulation, and whether there are links to academic medical centers that might lessen or improve the direct involvement at the state level. For example, California relies heavily on activities at UCSF for some of its work. Efforts include local consensus panels such as those related to ADAP advisory committees in Missouri and Washington, and formal guidelines panels such as in New Jersey, New York, and Washington.

Dissemination occurs in many ways. Virtually every state includes information about the guidelines in their newsletters, which are distributed to every practicing physician in the state. There has been much said about needing to condense the guidelines to make them more useful at the state level. There is some sharing of information between Florida and Michigan. Other efforts include direct dissemination of condensed versions to consumers, publications in book format in New Jersey and Texas, issuing regular updates, and specific distribution through local health departments.

States have used some local opinion leaders to champion the guidelines. The most common means was through collaboration with medical societies (Massachusetts, Michigan, New Jersey, and Texas). Other means include using formal governmental advisory bodies, coordination with other

State agencies such as social services, and collaboration with academic medical centers. Continuing education can be used to discuss the guidelines. Most states have a "roadshow" where they speak about emerging infectious diseases or new health care concerns. This may also be done through annual symposia.

There are some creative efforts with regard to consultations. Washington funds (through the University of Washington) a system whereby someone carrying a beeper 24-hours a day can be called by someone needing a consultation. California funds a warmline. Efforts at the local level should be publicized and adopted by other states. Teleconferences with case presentations to local experts are widely received. During the national teleconference on the adult guidelines Florida provided a call-in to present cases to experts. New York has begun to pilot videoconferences, but it is too soon to see how effective those efforts will be.

There is much discussion in the AETC environment in terms of how they need to change and be related to the current guidelines. Massachusetts is funding the local AETC and targeting their activities directly to community health centers and office practitioners to inform people about the guidelines. California is undertaking similar activities and focusing on rural areas. Washington funded their AETC to develop and to distribute a videotape on the guidelines. There may be a role for linking up with ADAP activities as well.

States are monitoring guidelines implementation through different means. Some are reviewing prescribing patterns through Medicaid or ADAP databases and using that information to target their activities (New Mexico, New Jersey, Michigan, and Massachusetts). Quality of care monitoring can consist of medical records review as in New York, Florida and other states, direct observation of clinicians as in Texas, self-assessment tools as in Florida, and distribution of a free software program of indicators in New York that perhaps could be adapted nationwide through the Ryan White Title III Program as part of an ongoing quality improvement program. Other states are promoting centers of excellence (such as New Mexico).

In summary, there are several important activities needed at the level for successful promotion of the guidelines:

Obtain buy-in at the local level.

Conduct rapid dissemination using the existing infrastructure.

Target providers through ADAP.

Tailor the guidelines for community practice variations.

Set up consultation mechanisms by telephone, warmlines, or beeper services.

Develop contractual requirements if appropriate.

Monitor guidelines implementation.

Coordinate with other agencies. Medicaid is an important agency for overseeing clinical care.

Future roles for the states include monitoring quality, especially through efforts linked to managed care; support for patient-mediated intervention; intercoordination, better coordination with the federal government, connections through the AETC, and computerized systems with built-in reminders.

Unresolved issues to consider include the role of regulation and to what extent the state should be involved in oversight of guideline implementation, the level of consultation, the degree of guideline modification that is appropriate, the extent of distribution, and the degree of collaboration that should occur with other agencies. There should be more efforts to cooperate with other disciplines, particularly the nursing profession where much communication about care occurs. Too often our focus is on the prescribing patterns of physicians. Health profession schools should also be targeted to ensure that new professionals are trained about the guidelines.

Community Organizations

Pablo Colon, DPM, Director, Department of Treatment Education and Advocacy, Gay Mens' Health Crisis, provided an overview of dissemination efforts by community organizations. The needs for treatment education are: 1) increasing self-empowerment, so that patients can participate in the treatment process; 2) informing people about the latest treatments; and 3) addressing the need to transform complicated medical terminology into simple and understandable consumer language. Community-based organizations are an important source for treatment information and support because patients often have an on-going relationship with the agency, staff may have more time to spend with clients, and there may be a greater sense of trust with the service provider/educator than with people encountered within the medical care setting.

Community-based organizations produce numerous types of materials and programs targeting patients, staff, and caregivers. The programs are geared to diverse populations with varying cultural, educational, and economic backgrounds and needs. Materials and events are often

developed for people at different stages of knowledge about treatment issues. Translation into different languages is often provided. Materials and programs include:

Treatment newsletters - usually provide detailed, state-of-the-art information about new developments in treatment and research, e.g. GMHC Treatment Issues, AIDS Treatment News, Project Inform's PI Perspective.

Fact sheets - usually short, easy-to-read pieces which focus on a specific opportunistic infection, type of treatment, or symptom. Several organizations develop fact sheets, including: GMHC, AIDS Treatment Data Network, and Project Inform.

Brochures - short pieces that describe an approach to treatment and/or describe available services.

Workshops - small group events that provide information about HIV disease and treatment. These can be geared to entry level or more advanced participants and are run by organization staff or volunteers.

Forums - large events that offer up-to-date information about treatment approaches, usually with the participation of experts from the field. GMHC holds monthly forums in the same place every month and has established a good regular audience. Project Inform holds its "town meetings" in cities around the country.

Trainings - provide staff and volunteers with treatment information to assist them in the provision of quality services to clients.

Peer counseling programs - provide individual counseling regarding treatment and HIV disease.

Libraries - provide books, journals, and computer services to clients.

Telephone services such as hotlines and warmlines.

Computer-based services such as Web sites.

Peer-based programs are an important model for several reasons. First, clients may feel more comfortable speaking with a peer about their HIV disease and their anxieties about making and following through on treatment decisions. Second, peer-based programs provide an opportunity to engage clients more actively in programs, so that the people you provide services to become the people who provide the services. This encourages client involvement and interaction and is the key to self-empowerment. However, peer-based programs require intensive training and supervision. It is important to distinguish between providing information and support from providing medical advice, which is beyond the purview of the counselor.

Community-service providers need opportunities to learn and exchange ideas. National conferences, such as the National AIDS Treatment Advocates Forum and the U.S. Conference on

AIDS are both excellent sources of information, communication, and networking. Following the release of the DHHS guidelines on antiretroviral use, GMHC held two conferences targeting case managers, health educators, peer educators, and people living with HIV. The information was presented by leading community-based treatment advocates involved in the development of the guidelines. Similar seminars have been conducted by other organizations. Computer services also offer an important opportunity for the exchange of information and materials. An effort to place treatment newsletters and fact sheets in one central site, which would allow access to them by community organizations all over the world was discussed. This would greatly increase access to information and reduce redundancy.

Community-based treatment educators also serve as advocates for proper treatment for their clients. They can often intervene with medical providers when clients are receiving substandard care or where communication between the client and the medical provider is faulty. This is a difficult task for community providers, as it may sometimes include suggesting that the client find a new doctor, and may involve speaking with the physician to question the standard of care. Health educators can work with clients to help them develop better relationships with their medical care providers by providing information, assisting in the preparation for the office visit, and explaining treatment options.

Community treatment advocates and educators have been at the forefront of dissemination of HIV/AIDS treatment information and have developed many innovative methods of providing information to both patients and providers. Their expertise in this area is great and should be utilized. The many different types and versions of educational materials that have been developed target patients with varying levels of literacy, knowledge, and cultural backgrounds. There is already an infrastructure for information dissemination to patients. To fulfill its promise, it needs adequate funding.

Professional Associations

John Henning, PhD, Director, Department of STD & HIV, American Medical Association (AMA), provided a perspective on dissemination of guidelines by professional associations. Medical organizations are in the business of communicating medical advances to their members. Most have highly developed information dissemination systems including journals, newsletters, Web sites and periodic direct mailings. If distribution of guidelines would ensure prompt and proper

implementation, then medical organizations must be encouraged to publish the DHHS antiretroviral treatment guidelines, or a notice of guideline availability.

However, HIV antiretroviral guidelines force us to face the modern information challenge for medicine. These guidelines are constantly changing. Physicians who prescribe antiretrovirals on the basis of year-old printed guidelines distributed by their professional organization would not be ensuring patients the full benefit of medical advances – and might do them harm. Therefore, traditional distribution of HIV guidelines by professional groups is only part of the appropriate method of ensuring state-of-the-art clinical practice. Medical associations need to fulfill their responsibility to their profession by promoting the present guidelines and also linking HIV providers to the continuing guidelines development process to ensure that medical practice remains current.

It appears that most major medical journals have ignored the DHHS antiretroviral guidelines that have been available on Web sites for approximately 6 months but were not published until 3 weeks ago. A review of the 1997 and 1998 volumes of 10 major United States medical journals and two major medical association Web sites found almost no mention of the DHHS antiretroviral guidelines. Journal of the American Medical Association carried an article on the DHHS guidelines in 1997 and again in 1998. It also printed full text of the International AIDS Society:USA (IAS:USA) guidelines in 1997 with an update in 1998. American Family Physician noted the IAS:USA antiretroviral guidelines but not DHHS guidelines; in 1997 there was an article on understanding the IAS:USA guidelines and in 1998 there was an editorial on who should deliver the treatment recommended in these guidelines. New England Journal of Medicine referenced the IAS:USA guidelines twice in 1998 in articles that did not focus on recommendations from these guidelines. Journal of Infectious Diseases in 1998 noted NIH principles but did not also note DHHS practice guidelines. The Web site of the American Academy of Family Physicians references its journal article on the IAS:USA guidelines, and the AMA Web site carries articles, full text and links to sites for full text of DHHS and IAS:USA guidelines. Greater guidelines awareness is seen overseas with an excellent commentary by the British Medical Journal on DHHS guidelines, NIH principles, and British HIV Association Guidelines. Clearly the potential for promoting guidelines through medical journals is there but there has not been much interest yet. Perhaps guidelines do not make for compelling journal articles.

Professional associations must determine a strategy for dissemination and linkage of providers to the ongoing guidelines process. Physicians can be categorized in relation to their HIV prescribing as:

core, involved, or uninvolved. Core physicians are characterized by a large HIV practice or involvement in key clinical antiretroviral trials. These prescribing physicians are most likely to seek out the latest advances in HIV treatment on their own. Therefore, core physicians are not the most appropriate audience for dissemination outreach. Core physicians only require that information on clinical advances generally be accessible to them through Web sites, journals, conferences or collegial telephone calls.

Involved physicians are those with few or a moderate number of HIV cases and a small amount of time to devote specifically to keep current with HIV treatment advances. Involved physicians are prescribing for HIV-infected patients with limited information and therefore should be primary targets for receipt of DHHS guidelines and linkage to the ongoing treatment development process embodied in the guidelines process. These physicians need information in a more concise fashion than is provided by current guidelines. They may also need training and organized, continued contact with core physicians.

Uninvolved physicians are ones who are not treating patients for HIV disease. Their HIV-infected patients receive HIV treatment through a different physician with or without the knowledge of uninvolved physicians — or HIV infection goes unnoticed and untreated. Wide dissemination of DHHS guidelines to these physicians may do harm. The fault is not with the guidelines. The guidelines recommend that physicians who do not have skills and commitment to stay current with treatment become competent or refer patients for HIV specific treatment or provide such treatment in consultation with a knowledgeable expert. This caution can easily be lost in the larger message that treatment is important and successful. The message disseminated to the uninvolved physician is better focused on basic information. Uninvolved physicians still need to identify HIV infection in their patient population, promote risk reduction in their patients, know the importance of appropriate referrals, and have information on drug interactions and side effects if the medical care of infected patients remains with them while a specialist directs HIV treatment. Professional associations can and should support this effort.

But DHHS guidelines raise unresolved questions for the medical community. While there is no wavering from the ethical obligation to treat HIV-infected patients, who competently treats HIV disease? If HIV treatment becomes the province of specialists, will HIV-infected patients be shunned? And how will special competency in HIV treatment be determined? Will all physicians be offered a clear path to HIV treatment competency if that is their calling? The April 24, 1998

publication of the DHHS guidelines is an essential first step in what is a much longer and larger process in the evolution of medicine.

Professional associations must do their share to ensure that the time between each guidelines improvement and actual benefits for patients is mercifully short.

Pharmaceutical Industry

Dr. Martin Mattingly, Director of Marketing, Agouron Pharmaceuticals, gave a pharmaceutical industry perspective on treatment information dissemination. He noted that there are a variety of targets audiences for dissemination and there is no one answer to this problem. A variety of methods are needed. He stated that Agouron's intent is to pilot dissemination efforts and adopt those methods that work. The pharmaceutical industry has two choices for dissemination: supporting independent efforts such as education programs, or conducting their own programs. Pharmaceutical industry programs are highly regulated and require prior approval from the FDA. Generally, if an effort already exists they prefer to form partnerships with that sponsor. A key component of the pharmaceutical industry is its field organization of people from a variety of backgrounds who are continually in contact with doctors, nurses, and pharmacists. This is a vehicle that is unique to the pharmaceutical industry.

Examples for targeting physicians include sponsoring a symposium on the guidelines at the 1997 ICAAC meeting and direct distribution of guidelines by field representatives. Direct mail with phone follow up for the lower-tier physicians is planned. The anticipated success rate for this is low but is cost-effective. Audioconferences often are effective.

Other target audiences include accounts such as corrections systems, managed care plans, and the Veterans Administration. An audioconference featuring the corrections guidelines has received tremendous interest. This is accredited for nurses, physicians, and pharmacists for continuing education. Teleconferences have been directed toward medical directors in managed care organizations and pharmacy directors. A new initiative was to challenge a pharmacy benefits manager to conduct his own drug utilization review within his system. The results were dismal, with 20-30 percent of patients receiving monotherapy. Although Agouron could not directly do anything about that, they could challenge the pharmacy benefits manager to target these physicians and support these initiatives. Caseworkers have been targeted through a quarterly digest and through

symposia. Agouron also sponsored a program at a mid-year clinical pharmacy meeting on the topic of the guidelines.

The pharmaceutical industry has tried to provide useful tools for disseminating the key principles in the guidelines. Such tools include a guide for antiretroviral drugs that is not nelfinavir-specific, sheets of stickers for doses of drugs that can be used on pillboxes for tailoring of the regimen by the physician, and posters and magnets, stating: "Every dose, every day." A Web-based program is being finalized that will electronically enable providers to tailor a regimen and print the information for patients; it also has the ability to catch common errors. A significant number of patients still use brochures in doctors' offices so they provide these as well and encourage adherence. They have just launched a campaign aimed at pediatric HIV patients, called the "Victor the Lion" series, to help children understand the disease and the medications. The terms HIV or AIDS are not on the outside covers of the information so that the child is not marked.

Patient surveys were conducted and patient expos were sponsored. From these came suggestions for how to distribute treatment information to underserved populations that included making videos by peers, and the importance of patient empowerment and peer educators. A conference participant noted that socioeconomic status is a more important determinant than race or gender in whether or not a patient is receiving appropriate care, and must be considered as well.

Evaluation of Clinical Practice Guideline Dissemination

Overview and Examples of Guideline Dissemination Evaluation

Steven Asch, MD, MPH, Resident Consultant, RAND Corporation, presented on the challenges of developing performance measures for HIV care. It is clear that evaluation is crucial to any guideline dissemination effort. Performance measures are gauges that give feedback on the dissemination effort. There is a science to constructing such measures just as there is clinical science behind the Guidelines themselves. The challenges to developing HIV-related measures to distinguish between health plans, physicians, or other accountable entities are organized by quality, access, and satisfaction.

HIV presents some very difficult challenges in measure development regardless of which of the content areas one speaks. First and foremost, patients and providers are concerned about the

confidentiality of their relationship. Providers may consequently omit HIV status from the medical record or be reluctant to provide records to those who are trying to measure quality of care. Patients will sometimes agree to sign waivers allowing their records to be reviewed for quality assurance purposes by their health plans. There is a large regional variation in the prevalence of HIV, and some plans or providers won't have enough patients to bother calculating measures. As a consequence of the confidentiality concerns and perceived differences in provider expertise many patients will seek care outside of their plan, making the calculation of these performance indicators problematic. For some types of HIV care, especially centering around prevention and education, there are many providers who feel they should not be held accountable for public health functions. HIV patients are much more likely to use alternative care either in or outside of a plan, and this also poses a problem for indicator development.

Health outcomes measures were described and include mortality, quality of life (QOL), OI incidence, and surrogate clinical markers. Reliance on outcomes measures is difficult because there are so many factors besides good care that effect outcome and that are beyond the provider or accountable entity's control. Risk adjustment is more problematic for HIV than other diseases due to the heterogeneity of the disease scenario. There are many strategies such as adjusting for CD4 count, viral load, risk factors, etc. but these all have associated problems. There is also a feasibility problem with outcomes measures. Mortality, even for HIV, can be too rare. QOL requires sequential interviewing and is very costly.

Process measures are about whether the patient gets the right care at the right time regardless of outcome. (For example, whether a patient with a CD4+ count below a certain threshold receives OI prophylaxis.) The guidelines strive to define good process by rigorously linking these processes with good outcomes using studies in the literature. Much information is easily abstracted from administrative/chart data. Risk adjustment is not as much of a problem. The problem with process measures is that there is a wide variation in the accepted process of care in HIV disease. The standard of care is also rapidly changing, making measurement difficult.

The consequences of the wide variation in standards mean that good quality of care may not lie in whether someone received recommended care but whether options for care were discussed. This is hard to measure through chart review. Patient preference is paramount and is also hard to measure. There is more geographic variation in HIV than in many diseases. Investigational trials may equal good care more than in other diseases. Should all patients enrolled in clinical trials be receiving at

least the standard of care, or should they be excluded from measurements, thereby excluding a larger proportion of patients than in other conditions? Consensus methods may be less reliable in HIV than in other diseases.

Major content areas for good process measures were outlined and include:

Chronic outpatient indicators are better than acute inpatient conditions because this is where the disease lies.

OI prophylaxis is a good performance measure because the rules are clear and do not change as much as the antiretroviral guidelines.

Antiretroviral treatment prescriptions should be assessed.

Counseling and testing are important but are very poorly documented activities.

Although experts vary on how often to conduct these tests, staging and monitoring of CD4+ counts and viral load are crucial to many other process measures and should be evaluated.

Structural measures include how provider groups are organized to care for HIV patients. These are difficult to utilize in HIV. For example, the number of AIDS specialists available to a patient in a plan or a region poses a problem since it is hard to define what an AIDS specialist is. The definition of structural elements in HIV can be uncertain. Structural measures are very remote from clinical outcomes, unlike process measures, which can be linked in the literature to good health outcomes. Access measures include such things as how long must one wait for an appointment. These measures suffer from feasibility problems because by definition they require patient interviews and these are costly. It is possible in the future that electronic appointment or call records can counter this feasibility problem, but for now these access measures will have to depend on patient surveys, and there must be a compelling reason to do this. One reason would be that HIV patients have differential access in certain settings.

Satisfaction measures, although straying from guidelines evaluation, are usually included in performance measures. There is some evidence that HIV patients are less satisfied than patients with other conditions. Some evidence exists to indicate that managed care HIV patients are less satisfied than fee-for-service patients. There is very little evidence that there is variation among different managed care plans in HIV patient satisfaction. This is important, because if there is no variation, then this is a terrible measure. The trend is to combine satisfaction measures with process quality measures for HIV (for example, whether the doctor adequately explained treatment options).

The RAND HIV projects and performance measurements include the Community Health Management Information System (CHMIS), an electronic database, and QA Tool. QA Tool has been funded sequentially by HCFA, AHCPR, and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and is striving to develop a global measure of quality of care based on process indicators and performance measures. The system covers 49 conditions and 1,500 indicators. HIV is one of those conditions. The process started with a structured review of the literature using the modified Delphi process and a detailed operationalization process for measuring performance indicators. This tool is currently being tested in health plans and in a national sample. Examples of indicators in QA Tool include offering testing for HIV in the past year for those seeking treatment for STDs, men who have sex with men, current injection drug users, and those with HIV sex partners. This is designed for chart abstraction rather than electronic administrative data abstraction. Those indicators excluded from the tool highlight some of the feasibility/completeness tradeoffs in designing performance indicators. The indicator excludes recipients of blood transfusions in the 1980s because the expert panel thought that there would be very few people left in that category that wouldn't have been tested. The expert panel that helped to develop the QA Tool determined (before the release of the DHHS guidelines) that patients should receive adequate antiretroviral treatment within 1 month of the following unless enrolled in a clinical trial: CD4+ count greater than 500 and viral load greater than 30,000 copies, CD4 count 350-499 and viral load greater than 10,000 copies, CD4 count less than 350, AIDS-defining conditions, or thrush. The panel had troubling defining what adequate antiretroviral therapy was and decided that this would have to be re-evaluated yearly. This is defined in QA Tool as anything better than AZT monotherapy. This indicator also illustrates the clinical trial dilemma because the field is so rapidly changing the panel believed that patients enrolled in a clinical trial testing antiretrovirals should be considered as having been offered the standard of care.

Another project with which RAND is involved along with AHCPR and other institutions is HCSUS. This is a major research effort to collect information on the quality of care of a nationally representative sample of adults in care including 3,000 patients and 150 providers. The data sources are patient and provider surveys, pharmacy data, and chart reviews. The domains include cost utilization, QOL, quality of care, access, satisfaction, and knowledge. There are number of HIV performance measures in HCSUS that could be used to evaluate the guidelines. HCSUS has developed an HIV-specific QOL instrument that could be used as an outcomes measure to test whether the guidelines made a difference. There are a broad variety of process and care measures that could prove useful in the area of provider response to symptoms, use of antiretrovirals, OI

prophylaxis, and diagnostic tests. There is a structural measure related to how the providers are organized. Access measures including symptom response measures and waiting times are included. Satisfaction data are also included.

In summary, there is a wide range of possible HIV performance measures available. Dr. Asch stated his preference for process measures, but a balanced approach between process and outcome measures is probably the best. There are many challenges to developing performance measures; the two most important ones are confidentiality and changing standards of care. A database approach blending chart review and administrative data is desirable. Preliminary survey-based data indicate that the gaps are quite widespread.

Objectives of Guidelines Evaluation

Leonna Markson, ScD., Director, Outcomes Research and Management, Merck and Company, described evaluation of clinical practice guideline dissemination. The objectives of such an evaluation include: 1) assessment of guideline acceptance; 2) assessment of whether current practice patterns are in accordance with the guideline; 3) development of benchmarks or performance measures that can be developed as standards of care from the guideline; 4) testing provider knowledge; and 5) assessing patient awareness.

Assessing acceptance of the HIV guidelines will include those providers who are aware of them. One should not overlook the fact that the guideline panel members themselves can serve as a useful resource. These members should be advocates for the guidelines and questions they have may be disseminated to the field. Information about providers should include:

Who are the guidelines supporters and skeptics?

Where have they obtained their information?

How did they receive the guidelines?

In what types of settings do they practice?

What types of patients do they serve?

How do they view the composition of the guidelines panel?

How do they view the evidence review process?

To decide where those issues reside, among those who may lean more toward skepticism, what are their specific areas of concern?

Methods to assess guideline acceptance include surveys of providers rating the value and usefulness of the guidelines, a need to develop case examples of where the guidelines work and do not work, and how the guidelines can be improved. Focus group discussions among supporters and panelists might be required to determine this. One of the values of research on acceptance of the guidelines is to gain insight into the rationale for provider buy-in or lack of buy-in on the guidelines. Another value is the identification of certain sections of the guidelines that need more improvement than others and these can be the focus of future dissemination efforts. Limitations of these methods include the focus on people who are most knowledgeable about the guidelines and not learning why the guidelines are not being disseminated.

Assessing current patterns of care for continuous quality improvement include determinations of whether practice is consistent with the guidelines and evaluation of processes through chart review as well as administrative data. The value of this assessment is through feedback of the information to the providers so that they can decide whether to initiate continuous quality of improvement processes. Merck is engaged in a small pilot study called the HIV practice cooperative. The purpose of the program is to review antiretroviral care to improve clinical effectiveness. One must determine disease status prior to the initiation of antiretroviral treatment, and view clinical markers, their frequency after initiation of treatment, and measures of what happens when changes in therapy occur. The clinical value of this kind of approach is that meaningful data can be obtained for direct-care providers, the types of patients not receiving guidelines care can be identified, and the potential to target outreach to patients or providers is created. A limitation is that the rationale for the observed patterns will be difficult to assess without qualitative data.

In contrast, benchmark or performance indicators can be developed as measures of standards of care. These efforts have been mentioned by managed care organizations and HCFA through HEDIS measures. We must evaluate whether there are components of these measures for HIV treatment that are ready to be included in performance-based measures and NCQA accreditation processes. The value of benchmarking is standardization in a public format across different settings. The limitations are that it will be difficult to distinguish practice patterns that reflect provider behavior versus patient choice, and the focus shifts from continuous quality improvement to justification of current practice patterns and severity adjustment issues.

Another approach to evaluating guidelines dissemination is to test provider knowledge. There may be the option of developing test questions to be used before and after CME programs. The baseline information could be used to determine how much the guidelines have been disseminated across the country. Testing after programs could be used to determine whether the education focused on what the provider needs to know and whether the guidelines need clarification. The value of testing provider knowledge is that it combines evaluation of dissemination efforts with efforts to improve knowledge. One might also be able to learn more about the length of time it takes for new knowledge to be disseminated to providers. This is useful to know since HIV treatment information will be updated regularly. The limitation of this evaluation is that providers are uncomfortable with being tested about their knowledge and it may difficult to understand bias among responders. Knowledge and practice patterns may vary and will not be determined by this approach. An evaluation of patient awareness of the guidelines is also important. Survey patients to measure their awareness of the guidelines and whether the guidelines were discussed with them and by whom. Determine whether the patients value the guidelines and the characteristics of patients who value them versus other sources of information. The value is that the patients can help to implement the improvement in quality of care. This approach can aid in the determination of what formats are needed for different types of patients. A limitation is that survey-based research is difficult with patients because of confidentiality issues and may be restricted to focus groups unless they are in large efforts like HCSUS. The ability to generalize this information across different populations can be very difficult.

An Overview of Research on Clinical Practice Guideline Dissemination, Implementation and Evaluation

Introduction

The development of new and more effective treatment strategies for HIV disease, including combination drug therapy and viral load testing, have created the possibility of turning HIV into a chronic but manageable illness. Recent clinical studies have demonstrated that when used properly, combination antiretroviral therapy is tolerable in most patients and can significantly reduce viral replication, thus halting immune system dysfunction, reducing AIDS-related opportunistic infections, and lowering the incidence of death. Combination drug therapy, however, is difficult to adhere to and must be taken for a lifetime. Furthermore, it is difficult to determine the optimal time to begin therapy, the most effective combination to use, and the appropriate treatments for patients for whom therapy is failing. Information about how to best utilize these therapies changes rapidly. Therefore, the development of long-term strategies for successful treatment challenges even the most experienced physicians and patients. The repercussions are severe; if not used properly, the virus can develop resistance to the drugs. Resistance to one drug often leads to resistance to an entire class of drugs. Therefore, improper use of the antiretroviral medication will significantly reduce the benefit to patients and could result in the development and transmission of drug-resistant strains of HIV, which would mitigate much of the progress in treating HIV disease made to date.

Recently released clinical practice guidelines provide physicians and patients with the most current antiretroviral therapy information, as well as provide a decision-making framework in the use of these drugs. The guidelines, developed by a panel of experts convened by the DHHS and the Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation, provide information on how to monitor HIV viral levels and immune system function; methods to assess when to initiate therapy; how to choose a combination of drugs that will best suit a patient's needs; how to use the drugs during pregnancy; and how to monitor side effects. The guidelines also provide suggestions for switching therapies for patients who are not responding to treatment. The guidelines are expected to encourage the systematic implementation of the most recent clinical findings and to standardize the care and management of HIV patients.

It is essential that the information contained in these guidelines be disseminated to health care providers, patients, and caregivers to ensure the optimal use of these promising, but complicated

therapeutic regimens. Further, it is imperative that physicians and patients fully understand the consequences of improper or suboptimal care. Studies show that patients who see physicians experienced in HIV care live longer and better lives. While some physicians are able to keep up with the ever-changing status of HIV treatment information, most physicians cannot. The new guidelines can provide this important information to physicians, which may improve the quality of care. However, without effective dissemination and implementation of the guidelines, the significant variations in treatment practices will persist, resulting in adverse patient outcomes. Considerable information is available on the clinical practice guideline process, providing the HIV/AIDS medical and service communities the opportunity to learn from past experience and continue research into the development, dissemination, and implementation of practice guidelines.

A Review of the Literature

Clinical practice guidelines are not new to health care delivery. By one account, more than 1,600 separate sets of clinical practice guidelines exist, which have been developed by more than 60 professional provider organizations, federal and government agencies, and third-party payer groups. Guidelines, promulgated to reduce inappropriate care and improve health care outcomes, play an increasing role in how health care is delivered and coordinated. Because of widespread variation in the management of specific health conditions and rising health care costs (e.g., HIV/AIDS), the aim of clinical practice guidelines is to produce the best consistent medical practice(s), based on scientific evidence, consensus expert opinion, and provider and patient feedback. Particularly advantageous to the guideline development process is the multi-disciplinary approach that it fosters. The guideline process requires the input of researchers, physicians, consumers, and other types of health care providers. Thus, the advantages of clinical practice guidelines are that they offer a useful synthesis of the current scientific evidence and provide the busy clinician with current information, supported by the opinions of responsible and respected colleagues and peers in the field.

Clinical practice guidelines have received extensive attention in the literature. Research into the various facets of the guideline process have either focused on the process of guideline development or on the attributes of an ideal set of guidelines.⁸ Recent writings have emphasized the need for more explicit delineation of the methodologies used to develop guidelines and call for research comparing the effectiveness of different guideline development processes.⁹ But the true success of the present-day clinical practice guideline movement may lie in the methods, enthusiasm, and resources devoted to guideline dissemination, implementation, and evaluation.¹⁰ Guidelines are

considered effective when they improve physician awareness, attitudes, behaviors, and ultimately patient outcomes.⁴

To be successful, guidelines must also provide practical avenues for application, ^{6,11} as patient populations and infrastructures for delivery of care differ and may not always fit the criteria defined in the guidelines. ⁸ Moreover, guidelines should be modified to meet local needs. ¹² The current of knowledge of the guideline process is reflected in the following points:

Dissemination of practice guidelines has been shown to be somewhat effective at raising physician awareness, but is far less effective at changing physician behavior. A change in behavior is more likely to take place if: 1) guidelines are developed by an institution with which the physician has a direct relationship; 2) guidelines are disseminated through an educational intervention; and 3) guidelines are implemented through administrative systems that provide the clinician with automatic reminders at the time of patient consultation.

Various models of physician behavior change suggest that physicians may be more influenced by such factors as personal characteristics (including: attitudes, habits, skills, values, competence, experiences) as well as by peer attitudes and values, social norms, resources, and patient feedback. These traits may serve to either enhance or impede guideline adoption depending on the combination of characteristics that exists.

Guideline adoption is not always feasible for those clinicians who face institutional barriers such as social, structural, logistical, and organizational factors. In addition, variations in the size, type, or location of the health care organization may also have an impact on awareness and adoption of guidelines.

Physicians use a variety of sources to obtain new clinical information, including: medical journals and newsletters, colleagues, continuing medical education classes (CME), professional conferences, and direct mailings.

- Physicians have been found to prefer guidelines that are authoritative, yet brief and easy to read, as well as those that utilize algorithms to help them assimilate guideline information more easily. Similarly, guidelines have the greatest impact when key issues are repeated, reinforced, and supported graphically. The marketing techniques used by the pharmaceutical industry appear to be effective when translated into the non-commercial realm.
- Guidelines are more effectively implemented when an evaluation measuring performance is built into the implementation process.
- The evaluation of clinical practice guidelines should address specific objectives, including:
 1) examination of the process of guideline development, dissemination, and implementation;
 2) measurement of the extent of implementation of the guideline; and 3) assessment of a guideline's effect on patient outcomes and health care utilization. 8,13

One of the goals of practice guidelines is to educate patients, who are increasingly encouraged to become active participants and decision-makers in their medical care.¹⁴ This is particularly important in HIV care, where patient participation in decision-making is cited as an important aspect of successful care in the clinical practice guidelines. Consequently, understanding the characteristics that affect patient behavior will consequently help in designing appropriate strategies and interventions that will enhance how guideline information is presented, passed on, and understood by patients. Factors that influence successful guideline dissemination to patients include: 1) the complexity of the information; 2) the format in which this information is provided; 3) patient characteristics, such as attitudes and beliefs about health care, motivation, education level, cultural background, relationship with the health care practitioner; and 4) access to health care information.

Clinical Practice Guidelines: The Process

The utilization process of a clinical practice guideline has four stages: development, dissemination, implementation, and evaluation. The developmental stage of the HIV clinical practice guidelines began, as with most guidelines processes, with the recognition of gaps in the ability to successfully treat HIV disease and the development of new tools and methods that could fill those gaps and improve care.

There are various methods used in the development of a set of guidelines and each method contains common attributes that are essential to their final product. These attributes include:¹³

Validity: guidelines are only valid if they lead to improved patient outcomes; as part of this assessment, evaluation should consider substance and quality of the evidence cited, the means to evaluate the evidence, and the relationship between the evidence and the recommendations.

Reliability/reproducibility: these are essential when guidelines are tailored at the local level. If local experts can produce similar results under similar clinical circumstances, which can be interpreted and applied consistently by the local providers, then the guidelines are effective.

Clinical applicability: guidelines should be applied to the appropriate target populations.

Clinical flexibility: guidelines must identify the specifically known or generally expected exceptions to what is recommended.

Clarity: guidelines should have unambiguous language, define terms clearly, and use a logical and easy-to-follow mode of presentation.

Multidisciplinary approach: the developmental process must include participation by all relevant stakeholders and representatives of affected provider and patient groups.

Scheduled review: guidelines must include time periods for review to determine whether revisions are warranted given new clinical evidence or professional consensus.

Documentation: everything that takes place throughout the guideline process must be documented, including the procedures followed, participants involved, evidence used, assumptions made, rationale accepted, and the analytical methods used.

These elements guide the development process and require a consolidation of research evidence, expert opinion, clinical experience, and patient feedback. In particular, the multidisciplinary approach helps to ensure that a high degree of collaboration and participation occurs among the various stakeholders concerned with quality care and cost effectiveness. ^{13,15} Practice guidelines are often developed by a variety of professional entities. For example, professional societies (e.g. American Medical Association), government agencies (e.g., the AHCPR, CDC, and managed care organizations may each develop a particular set of clinical practice guidelines, and their position in the medical and health field may influence the successful utilization of a practice guideline by physicians and patients. However produced, the effectiveness of guidelines relies on how successful they are disseminated, implemented, and evaluated. The goals of dissemination and implementation are to change norms, beliefs, assumptions, values, and clinical practices. ¹⁶ The goal of evaluation is to assess both the effectiveness of implementation strategies and the effectiveness of a guideline on patient outcomes and care utilization. Guidelines are considered effective when they improve:

Knowledge: the awareness by the target audience of the guidelines.

Attitudes: the acceptance of the new standard of care by the target audience.

Behavior: assimilation and adoption of the new standard of care into practice and care.

Outcomes: improving patient health, controlling costs.⁴

Thus, in order for these changes to take place, the distinct stages of the guideline process must be addressed appropriately.

Dissemination

This is the process by which knowledge and information are made accessible or available to a target audience. It is best viewed as an active and intentional process, and its success can be measured by the degree to which information is made available to the target audience and the degree to which the target audience acknowledges the information.¹⁷ The latter task, however, is often more difficult to achieve than the former. For example, it is not enough to simply mail practice guidelines to every relevant person in a specified group; the information must also be actively recognized — if the piece

of mail is discarded without being opened or read, then dissemination has failed.¹⁷ Thus, effective dissemination goes beyond the traditional concept of diffusion of information and encompasses the process through which target groups become aware of, assimilate, accept, and adopt the disseminated information.⁵

As noted previously, practice guidelines are developed by a variety of professional groups. Their role in the medical/health field can affect how practice guidelines are disseminated and implemented. The common goal of any set of guidelines is to standardize some aspects of the process of care based on average value judgments of expert groups, but these judgments do not always fit with the large spectrum of individual decisions both of the clinicians and patients. 15 For example, nationally based practice guidelines such as those originating from professional societies, develop statements written for a large audience. Such guidelines, however, may not take into account the many geographical variations that exist among medical practices and thus, may be less frequently applied by physicians. ¹⁵ In contrast, institution-based guidelines, such as those developed by hospitals or managed care organizations, are tailored more to the clinical practices of its own specific population of physicians and to the scope of their patients. ¹⁵ The local context is taken into consideration, which provides a more familiar environment in which to incorporate the guidelines. But it has also been shown that guidelines stemming from a managed care organization are less likely to be well-received by physicians and patients because of their perceived over-arching interest in controlling health care costs by limiting treatment.^{2,18} This negative perception can be avoided if it can be shown that the guidelines are a good reflection of national standards.

While the roles of the various disseminating groups may differ, each group works within a common framework similar to the one employed by the AHCPR. Established in 1989 by Congress, AHCPR was created to enhance the quality and effectiveness of health care services and access to such services. AHCPR carries out its mission through broad-based health services research; assessment of health care technologies; facilitation of development of clinical practice guidelines; performance measures and standards of quality; and dissemination of research findings and clinical guidelines.³ AHCPR's dissemination framework defines the audiences to be reached and describes the various audience-specific guidelines products that can be created to disseminate the guidelines' information.⁵ Dissemination is targeted to six major groups: ⁵

Patients and the groups that represent and/or educate them

Health care practitioners: medical, specialty, and other allied health professional associations or groups, and public health education networks

Policy makers: federal, and local legislators

The health care industry: provider organizations (e.g. hospitals, clinics); group practices (e.g. HMO's, PPO's); third-party payers (e.g. insurers); pharmaceutical manufacturers; federal health care systems (e.g. PHS, DOD, Veterans Affairs); quality assurance and utilization review groups and organizations

Researchers: biomedical, clinical, nursing, and medical researchers; health services researchers and institutions

The press: printed and/or electronic media groups

These six different groups, in turn, help to disseminate guideline information further within their organizations and to the constituencies in which they are part of or serve. The literature also discusses themes surrounding dissemination to physicians, including:

The credibility of the product is crucial to its adoption: a precondition for physician acceptance of practice guidelines in general is the confidence physicians have in the usefulness of particular guidelines. Acceptance depends on whether physicians feel they can trust the process by which the guidelines were developed and the quality of the information used in establishing the guidelines' content.

Use of opinion leaders: using respected individuals in the field (either at the national or local levels) to endorse the practice guidelines through group and/or individual consultation (e.g., seminars, conferences, or peer discussion).

Clarity: most physicians prefer concise, easy to read guidelines that use few ambiguous terms.

Physicians rely on different sources for information so no one mode of dissemination can be considered optimal. Therefore, a combination of dissemination strategies should be used.

- Dissemination alone does not guarantee the use of information: changes in physician behavior are more likely to take place if guidelines are developed by an institution with which the physician has a direct relationship, if they are disseminated through an educational intervention, and if they are implemented through administrative systems that provide physicians with automatic reminders at the time of patient consultation.
- Time is a physician's most important resource: the impact of any dissemination strategy will depend on how long it takes to pass on the information. 3,8,16

Information can be transferred in a variety of ways. Traditional dissemination strategies include: direct mail; publication in scientific and general health journals and the general media, continuing medical education classes/programs (CME), professional conferences or newsletters, and electronic databases (e.g.,NLM).¹⁶ Studies of these strategies, however, show mixed results.¹² For example,

CME programs, when used by themselves, do not seem to be effective in changing a clinician's behavior, though they might increase awareness of the issues. ^{19,20} Browner et al. studied the effects of CME on compliance with the recommendations of the National Cholesterol Education Program Expert Panel (NCEPEP) on high serum cholesterol levels in adults. Primary care physicians in 174 practices either underwent standard or intensive CME. After 18 months, 13,099 medical records from 140 practices were audited. The data showed that there was no significant difference between the two physician groups in compliance with the guidelines or in screening for high serum cholesterol. ²¹ Likewise, mass mailings of guidelines or their publication in professional journals without accompanied efforts to encourage feedback or discussion have generally failed or were less effective in changing physician behavior. ²² For instance, in a 1989 British study, Fowler et al. mailed guidelines on smoking cessation counseling to all general practitioners in the British Medical Association. Of the 3,420 respondents, 51 percent reported having received the mailing, 28 percent reported having read it, and only 9 percent were able to name one of the three practices promoted by the guidelines. ²³ Thus, there is an obvious need for more aggressive strategies or for combining existing strategies.

More recent strategies include interactive computer-based medical/health systems (i.e., medical informatics systems) and the use of the internet. Medical informatics is a rapidly growing field that continues to find innovative ways to record and organize patient data, to interact with existing medical and/or health informational systems, and to disseminate and incorporate new medical information as it becomes available. With the increasing use of electronic medical records, computer-based decision support systems, the Internet, and other types of medical informationinteractive programs²⁴, medical informatics can be used to disseminate and integrate clinical practice guidelines into the process of health care delivery. The Internet, for example, can serve as a means for professional groups, government agencies, community/patient organizations, and research institutions to inform their constituencies of new practice guidelines by posting them on their Web sites. In addition, these various groups can offer their advice, opinions, and explanations of the guidelines. The AHCPR and the American Medical Association (AMA), for example, have many published medical practice guidelines available on their websites and can be accessed readily. The advantages of using the Internet as a means for dissemination are that guideline information can be transmitted more quickly than traditional means (e.g., mass mailings or publication in journals); the information can be accessed repeatedly; and disseminating groups can suggest or link their viewers to other sources for guideline information.

Guidelines also need to be packaged in different ways for different audiences. For example, academic clinicians or researchers may find it adequate to read about published practice guidelines in respected medical journals, while some physicians might find it more useful to carry reminder cards or use stickers in patient records. When disseminating a new set of guidelines, the AHCPR packages information in different formats for particular target audiences. Practitioners receive both a detailed version of the practice guidelines, which includes specific statements and recommendations, algorithms, evidence tables, references, and an abbreviated version for day-to-day use. Patients receive a version of the guidelines that has easy-to-understand terms and statements, which describe symptoms, treatment options, benefits, and risks. This version also suggests questions patients can ask their physicians. A third version contains all background and supporting materials for the practice guidelines, including a summary of the scientific evidence, literature review, methodology, and bibliography; it is available to any researcher, clinician, educator, or others.

Implementation

The success of clinical practice guidelines depends not only on their proper development and dissemination, but also on their widespread application in routine medical practice. Previous research has shown that about only 60 percent of physicians are aware of national guidelines one year after their release. A 1990 prevention study assessed screening rates for various types of cancer, including prostate, breast, and colorectal cancers. Researchers compared the performance rates of 52 physicians with guideline recommendations made from the American Cancer Society, the NCI, and the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Data pulled from medical record reviews of 525 patients showed that actual physician performance rates were much lower than self-reported rates. Actual performance rates varied between 0.3 percent (sigmoidoscopy) and 39 percent (breast examinations). This evidence demonstrates that dissemination does not guarantee acceptance, and acceptance does not guarantee use. Therefore, for guidelines to be effective in standardizing the care for specific medical problems, guideline dissemination efforts should go beyond the basic diffusion of information and help clinicians assimilate and adopt the information into their clinical practices.

The process of guideline implementation includes incorporating the guidelines into the local context; transforming the guidelines into a workable operating system; setting up a system for monitoring and evaluating the designed process; and giving feedback on the experience to the guideline

developers.³ The implementation process is also affected by certain attributes of the guidelines themselves. Consideration should be given to the degree to which the guidelines are perceived as being too complex or difficult to understand and use by the adopting group; the compatibility of the guidelines with an organization's prevailing structure (this includes the degree to which the organization formalizes decision-making processes, as well as its existing levels of communication, coordination, and availability of resources — all these elements can influence how a particular guideline moves through the steps of the implementation process); and the relative advantage or the degree to which guidelines are perceived as being better or worse than the ideas that preceded them.²⁹

Most current development processes do not treat the implementation of guidelines as an integral part of the development procedure. Incomplete or flawed implementation eventually undermines the value of guideline development and prevents attainment of its goals. It is particularly important to address issues of guideline implementation in light of pervasive evidence that the mere development and dissemination of guidelines rarely leads directly to changes in medical practice. A 1989 study by Lomas et al. examined the effect of nationally-endorsed guidelines recommending decreases in the use of cesarean sections. The study investigated physician characteristics such as awareness, attitude, knowledge of new guidelines, and physician self-reports on guideline effects on clinical practice. The study concluded that physicians' self- reports indicated a change in practice behaviors, but that data from *actual practice* showed that two years after dissemination of practice guidelines on cesarean sections, physicians' behavior had changed very little; most obstetricians were not, in fact, moving rapidly toward implementation of the recommendations stated in the practice guidelines.

Every set of guidelines will have specific implementation barriers. Some of these barriers are related to the characteristics of the guidelines themselves and the way in which they are disseminated. Other barriers are related to personal characteristics of physicians and patients^{31,32} including attitudes and beliefs toward practice guidelines, professional background and experience.⁹ A study conducted by James et al.³³ surveyed a group of family physicians' attitudes about the use of clinical practice guidelines. Of the 419 who responded to the survey, 43 percent agreed that practice guidelines challenged physician autonomy, 29 percent viewed guidelines as oversimplified or "cookbook medicine," 30percent found guidelines to be too rigid to apply to individual patients, and 60percent believed that guidelines would likely be used to reimburse physicians. This evidence demonstrates that a careful analysis of personal characteristics should be considered when designing

implementation strategies.⁶ If guidelines are to be fully effective, it is important at the outset to identify the barriers to implementation and initiate constructive strategies for guideline integration.

Implementation strategies should have an impact at four levels: 1) increasing knowledge and awareness of the guidelines; 2) changing attitudes, such that clinicians and patients agree with and accept the recommendations as a better standard of care; 3) changing behavior, such that clinicians change their clinical practice to conform with the guidelines; and 4) changing outcomes, by improving patient health and quality of care.⁴

Changing clinicians' attitudes and practice behavior, in particular, has proven to be one of the most challenging tasks in the incorporation of guidelines into care. Their reluctance to adopt guideline practices has been a consistent finding in the literature⁸ and has been attributed to:

Physicians' fear of loss of autonomy and patient choice

Their distrust in the disseminating body as a credible source

Lack of professional support (e.g. no CME)³⁰

Incomplete information concerning the need for guidelines, or as an unnecessary and/or inappropriate substitute for clinical judgment.²²

Similar to the study conducted by James et al.., Tunis and colleagues surveyed 2,513 American College of Physicians (ACP) internists on general attitudes about clinical practice guidelines and about the impact that guidelines have on practice. Of the 1,513 who responded, one-fourth agreed that guidelines are "oversimplified," "too rigid to apply to individual patients," and a "challenge to physician autonomy." In addition, asked about how guidelines affect their practice, 60 percent said that guidelines have had some influence on their decision-making; 16 percent said that guidelines have had a major effect (less than the percentage for colleagues, CME, or textbooks); and 18 percent of internists said that their practice had changed during the past year as the result of a guideline. In addition, differences in medical consultation, clinical experience, and information exchange among patients and peers or colleagues may affect the way in which guideline information is incorporated into care. Such factors and how they impact the implementation of guidelines need to be considered when designing appropriate implementation strategies.

When one considers the complex influence of attitudes, norms, beliefs, experience, and practice on physician behavior, the need for specific and innovative implementation strategies becomes evident.

Lessons from other disciplines show us that we can learn from work done in the social sciences and sales and marketing fields about factors that influence human behavioral changes. Pharmaceutical marketing research, for example, shows us that "academic detailing" has been successful in changing physician behavior. Academic detailing entails an understanding of the social influence perspective, which state that the behavior of one person has the effect or intention of changing how another person behaves, feels, or thinks about something. This approach focuses on physician behavioral change through "peer counseling"; the use of opinion leaders to provide one-on-one consultation with peers. It incorporates the use of a combination of educational visits and information transfer within the context of a well-planned marketing strategy. Important techniques include:

Investigating baseline knowledge and motivation for current clinical behavior

Defining clear educational and behavioral objectives

Establishing credibility

Providing authoritative and unbiased sources of information, presenting both sides of the issues that exist with the new information

Stimulating doctor participation in the education process

Using concise and graphic educational materials that highlight and repeat essential messages

Providing positive reinforcement of improved practices in follow-up visits

This strategy is successful when the educators are known and respected by the target group. It also provides a greater likelihood of behavioral change than information transfer alone and is likely to have its greatest impact early in the implementation process. The effectiveness of this strategy is well documented in a large body of marketing research and experience^{35,36} and has been evaluated in several empirical trials, which have found significant improvements in prescribing practices following the use of academic detailing strategies.²² A 3-year study conducted by Avorn and Soumerai et al. investigated the effects of face-to-face education of practicing physicians on their drug prescription behavior. Based on previous findings that less than optimal prescription decisions by physicians was common, the authors implemented academic-based detailing methods to help reduce the excessive use of three particular drugs. Participating physicians were divided into three groups: a control group with no intervention; a printed-materials-only group that received drug prescription information; and the third, a face-to-face group which received the exact same printed materials as the second group from trained pharmaceutical educators (six were clinical pharmacists with a Pharm.D. degree, one was a pharmacologist). Results from their study showed that physicians who were offered personal educational visits by the educators along with a series of

mailed "unadvertisements" reduced their prescribing of the target drugs by 14 percent as compared with the control group. Moreover, the positive effect persisted for at least 9 months after the start of the intervention, and no significant increase in the use of the substitute drugs was found. In contrast, those physicians who received only mailings did not show any significant changes in their behavior. The authors concluded that academically based detailing may represent a useful way to improve the quality of drug-therapy decisions and reduce unnecessary expenditures. ³⁵

Additionally, guidelines will be effective only if they reach into the local communities. Local opinion leaders have been found to play a key role in shaping local consensus regarding new technologies and thereby encouraging or blocking new behavior. This reinforces the view that while doctors are members of a national or international medical culture, they function largely through their participation in smaller local subgroups.³⁷

A second strategy involves integrating guideline usage into the ongoing activities of clinical practice and into the ongoing process improvement activities of the institution. Here, strategies should not only focus on the physician/clinician, but also on the organization as the unit of analysis and intervention. Effective guideline implementation requires that guideline adoption be integrated with broader efforts to measure and improve organizational performance.³ Barriers to guideline implementation may be related to the capabilities of the delivery system and the overall practice environment.³⁸ These barriers can arise from multiple factors including: inadequate communication of the guideline, inadequate support systems to enable clinicians to recall guideline details at the appropriate time, inadequate support systems to enable the clinician to carry out the recommendations, and disagreement with the recommendations.³⁹ Some approaches to address these potential barriers include: administrative support systems, such as one that notifies physicians of new information and automatically provides clinicians with follow-up letters to send to their patients; computerized training programs to instruct physicians on the use of such systems; and administrative changes that encourage clinicians to follow guideline recommendations, such as providing revised clinical materials (e.g., laboratory test order forms or an updated drug list) that reflect the new guideline information.³⁹

Factoring the patient into the practice setting is also important. Patient-based assessments must be built into the guidelines supporting the information it contains. Patient-centered approaches, including educating patients about the effectiveness of interventions, the probabilities of different outcomes of treatment and their potential impact on quality of life, can help change the behavior of

physicians and influence the treatment they choose. ¹² Furthermore, training medical students on how to use guidelines can help to influence future clinical behavior. Students will need to develop critical appraisal skills and learn how to integrate personal experience with changing information. Medical training and apprenticeship programs (including residency and fellowship training) can also provide a unique and valuable opportunity to influence health providers' behavior. This training period entails an intensive transfer of assumptions, beliefs, values, and norms from the senior clinician to the trainee and is intended to impart critical skills in independent thinking and analysis. However, trainees can pick up subtle cues and learn ingrained habits from their mentors, who may impart their fundamental beliefs and assumptions underlying their practices. ²²

As with dissemination, computer technology is also facilitating more efficient implementation of guidelines. Interactive computer systems have made it easier to supply, store, and transmit advanced knowledge to individual doctors and providers. 15 The growth of computerized storage and retrieval systems, rapid advances in technology (e.g., CD-ROM, laser disks), and the development of computerized decision-making or decision-support systems present major opportunities for dissemination and implementation strategies for present and future sets of practice guidelines. 5,24 They can assist in the implementation of guidelines by packaging practice guidelines in various forms. These include text documents, clinical algorithms, and tailored interactive forms. 16 Lobach and Hammond (1997), demonstrated how a computerized clinical practice guideline (the "Computer-Assisted Management Protocol") can be integrated into a decision-support system to assist clinicians in managing diabetic patients. In a 6-month controlled trial at a primary care clinic, 58 primary care physicians were randomized to receive either a special encounter form with the computer-generated guideline recommendations or a standard encounter form. The effect of computer-generated advice on clinician behavior was measured as rate of compliance with guideline recommendations. Of the 58 physicians, 30 were analyzed and results showed that the availability of patient management recommendations generated by the decision-support system were followed by a two-fold increase in clinician compliance with the guidelines for diabetes mellitus.²⁴

Safran and colleagues⁴⁰⁻⁴² studied the effects of the introduction of a computer-based patient record on the dissemination and implementation of locally-developed clinical practice guidelines for the care of patients with HIV. These practice guidelines were similar to those developed by the NIH's national consensus panel at the time of introduction. Safran et al. developed an interactive knowledge-based electronic patient record that integrated rule-based decision support and full-text information retrieval with an online patient record. The computer workstation allowed a physician

to use online information resources and fully electronic patient records during all patient encounters. The resulting database was continually updated with outcome data on patients with HIV. The system also contained statistical methods to measure the effects of electronic alerts (computer messages that informed the clinician about an important clinical event concerning the patient, such as low CD4 count) and reminders (computer messages that appeared only when the clinician looked at the patient's record online, usually to remind the clinician of scheduled laboratory tests or vaccinations). The system also allowed clinicians to 1) retrieve the results of diagnostic studies; 2) search the medical literature; 3) obtain advice and consultation; 4) keep problem lists, medication lists, screening and flow sheets, and progress notes online; and 5) order appropriate diagnostic tests or procedures online. There was no transcription from paper forms, and data entry was shared among clinicians and other staff members.

Data from Safran et al. showed that the presentation of alerts and reminders as part of the computer-based patient record resulted in significantly faster and more complete adoption of practice guidelines by the group of physicians treating patients with HIV. Significant differences were seen in response times to clinical events, scheduled activities, and the initiation of appropriate therapies, resulting in fewer hospital admissions. For example, response times to 303 alerts in the intervention group and 388 alerts in the control group were 11 and 52 days, respectively. The median response time to 432 reminders in the intervention group was 114 days compared to 500 days for 360 reminders in the control group Additionally, various online resources (e.g. AIDS Clinical Care, Drug Information, HIV ProtoCall, American Foundation Directory) were frequently used when examining the patient's electronic record prior to the patient's appointment that same day or at other viewing times. Researchers from this study concluded that an interactive system that included both a patient database and a knowledge database provided a viable means to integrate different types of information (e.g., guideline recommendations, references, abstracts from medical literature, community resource information, drug information, and research protocols) about the care of HIV-infected patients at the point of individual care.

Safran's study provides an excellent example of the potential for computer-based systems to assist in the dissemination and implementation of clinical practice guidelines. For these potentials to be realized, however, the use of computerized systems will have to contend with the likely behavioral and learning obstacles that may exist among clinicians and decision-makers with the use of computer technology.⁵

Dissemination to Patients

Clinical practice guidelines are developed for patients and physicians. The understanding and cooperation of patients in health care is of increasing importance. With the HIV practice guidelines, the need to reach patients as a target audience is essential for appropriate decision-making about when to begin treatment, which combinations to use, and to assist in efforts to adhere to treatment. Developers of guideline dissemination and implementation strategies need to take into consideration how guideline information is presented to patients, how complex the information is, and the format or context in which this information is passed on. Just as physicians differ in how they become aware of, assimilate, and adopt new medical information, patients also differ in the ways they seek, receive, and process the same information. It is essential, therefore, to look into patient factors such as attitudes, beliefs, motivations, level of knowledge and comprehension, cultural background, access to health information, and use of available informational resources to better understand how these factors influence guideline implementation in the patient population. Understanding how these characteristics affect patient behavior will consequently help in designing appropriate strategies and interventions, which can help sustain desired behavioral changes.

Clinicians usually present treatment information to patients at the point of consultation. Several studies have demonstrated that events which occur within the patient-physician interaction can affect how patients make decisions about their care. Factors of this interaction include the provider's: language, extent of information exchange, sensitivity, continuity of care, genuine interest, respect, and consultation style. For example, treatment information presented by a physician who uses forceful or condescending language in a 10-minute visit may intimidate the patient and prevent him or her from asking questions and following the treatment regimen. In addition, the physician should remember to repeat important messages and use concise, specific, and organized statements with less technical words; patient recall averages about 50 percent and is often difficult when extensive and complex information is given within the first 5 minutes of consultation. The physician must also take into account a patient's level of knowledge or comprehension to help educate the patient of his or her treatment options. Cultural barriers, such as language differences, beliefs, or attitudes, may prevent the patient from understanding or accepting what is being said to

them. It is, therefore, critical for the physician to establish trust at the onset of the consultation and express personal interest, sensitivity, and respect for the patient. 45,46

Patient access to practice guidelines and other health information and how they utilize this knowledge can also affect the way in which guideline information is incorporated into individual care. 12 The broad availability of resources for health information (e.g. online health resources, treatment education programs, national clearinghouses) gives patients extensive access to guideline information. Providing patients with more information about treatment options and the probabilities of different outcomes associated with these options, as well as their potential impact on their quality of life, may influence the treatment course patients choose, thus influencing the manner in which their physicians will care for them. ¹² A study by Manfredi looked at cancer patients' informationseeking behavior, how their behavior affected their interaction with their doctors and their health care decisions. The researchers found that approximately 50 percent of study participants sought treatment-related information from the NIH's Cancer Information Service (CIS), and of this group, approximately 42 percent discussed the CIS information with their physicians. In addition, the researchers found that the most common patient information needs were for exploring all treatment options and being knowledgeable when discussing treatment plans with their physicians. ¹⁴ This study highlights the increased role of patients in the management of their care, as well as the impact the availability of health information can have on their interaction with their physicians.

In response to increased patient participation in the decision-making process and interest for current information, the medical and health communities have developed various types of materials to make the information more understandable. This information is usually provided in formats that are easy to follow. For example, AHCPR provides practice guidelines in a "consumer version," one in which information is written in non-technical language (in both Spanish and English) and provides patients with the appropriate information to discuss with their physicians. In addition, several community and patient advocacy groups have translated complicated medical information and created various educational materials that are easy to understand and that have also been tailored to meet the needs of patients with varying cultural and/or educational backgrounds. Hence, patients can learn what treatment options are available to them, as well as the benefits, side effects, and responsibilities associated with such options.

To date, there is not any one ideal strategy or intervention that exists for complete implementation of clinical practice guidelines. It is likely that a combination of methods is necessary due to the

diversity of practice environments and behaviors.⁶ Implementation strategies need to be treated as an integral part of the development process if practice guidelines are to achieve their fullest potential in changing clinical practice.

Questions still persist on whether practice guidelines reduce inappropriateness in clinical practice, and on whether their impact on patient care results in better patient outcomes.^{3,4} In addition, many practitioners remain skeptical as to whether guidelines can achieve any clinically significant change in physician behavior.⁶ The idea of "cookbook medicine" remains a concern among physicians who believe that clinical practice guidelines may actually decrease their clinical autonomy, thus decreasing individualization of care^{4,7} and may establish medical practice too firmly and inhibit research and innovation.⁷ But while some variations in medical practice are expected, significant and/or unexplained differences in practice raise the concern that some patients are not treated effectively or appropriately and that the health dollars of patients, employers, and third-party payers are wasted.³ Moreover, patients should have the security of knowing that whatever doctor they consult, he or she will provide them with a certain minimum standard of cost-effective care.⁴⁷ Thus, the goal for any physician will be to balance clinical freedom and responsibility. Guidelines can assist them in this effort, where the idea is to manage clinical practices, not physicians.²⁹

Evaluation

The fourth stage of the clinical practice guideline process is evaluation. Without an evaluation component, it is impossible to know if the guideline is being utilized and what effects it is having on patients and on health care delivery. There are three areas of evaluation: 1) dissemination evaluation (did the information reach the targeted audiences?); 2) implementation evaluation (did the target populations change their prior practices and utilize the information from the guidelines?); and 3) outcomes evaluation (did integration of the guideline recommendations have a positive effect on patient outcomes and health care utilization?).

Despite the proliferation of practice guidelines and the enthusiasm which they are promoted, guidelines are rarely systematically evaluated.⁴⁸ Guidelines should be treated like any other form of health technology in need of assessment. Scientific trials of practice guidelines should be encouraged to include an audit of both process outcomes and patient outcomes.^{7,48} Although there is universal agreement that improved health outcomes are the ultimate measure of guideline success, the other areas of evaluation (i.e. dissemination and implementation) are equally important in

determining the success of intermediate or process outcomes. These include: increased awareness of guidelines by the target audiences; changes in physician behavior, and/or a reduction in practice variations. Multiple evaluations looking at each stage of the guideline process will determine the overall effectiveness of the guidelines.

The value of dissemination evaluation is illustrated by Gorton et al., who examined the effect of three methods used to disseminate nationally-developed asthma guidelines on physicians' behavior and attitudes toward different educational strategies in Area Health Education Centers (AHECs) in Arkansas. Mailed questionnaires were used to collect information before and after the 4-month intervention on the adoption of guideline recommendations. The interventions included a general mailing of the asthma guidelines to all 60 participating physicians and separate combinations of interventions at three different sites: Site A featured a short summary of the guidelines, "detailing" phone calls from peer physicians, and a CME conference; Site B utilized computer strategies and a multimedia approach with facsimile messages, posters, and audiovisual materials; Site C used only a CME conference. A fourth site served as a comparison. In addition, data was collected from outpatient chart reviews and physician interviews. Of the 60 physicians, about 79 percent read the written material that was mailed, sent by facsimile, or presented as posters or participated in telephone conversations. At Site B, 72 percent attended the computer workshop; less than 50 percent of the physicians at Sites A and C attended the CME conference; and only 27 percent of physicians at Site C and 38 percent of those at Site A used the audiovisual materials. Moreover, the researchers found that while each site improved in the use of asthma medication use and peak flow monitoring, none of the sites improved in all areas of asthma care. This study demonstrates the usefulness of evaluating dissemination and implementation strategies; results from this study provided valuable information on intermediate outcomes, such as physician awareness of the practice guidelines and the effects of intervention strategies on guideline implementation.¹⁹

A review of 102 trials of interventions to improve medical practice in Canada found that dissemination-only strategies, such as conferences or mailing of unsolicited materials, produced little or no change in medical practice. Whereas more complex interventions, such as the use of outreach visits or local opinion leaders, sometimes produced moderate reductions in inappropriate measures. This study illustrates the need for implementation strategies beyond information dissemination and shows that even where such strategies are utilized, the effect on care is limited.

Evaluating the effectiveness of practice guidelines on health care utilization and patient outcomes is also essential. Unfortunately, rigorous investigations of guideline effects on patient outcomes are still lacking. 6.7.48.50 Worrall et al. reviewed evaluations of clinical practice guidelines to assess whether guidelines improve patient outcomes in primary care. From their search, the researchers identified 91 evaluations of clinical practice guidelines. Of these, 56 were studies of preventive or investigative guidelines and were eliminated from the analysis. Of the remaining 35 studies, only 13 reported data on patient outcomes, of which only 5 showed statistically significant improvements. However, the studies did provide useful data on process outcomes. For example, in their search, Worrall and colleagues found that guidelines resulted in more complete recording of antenatal care, in more appropriate referral of infertile couples to specialist care; and that the rate of inappropriate radiological referrals was reduced. Worrall states that such results are promising if it is assumed that improvements in the process of care will eventually result in improved patient outcomes, something that can only be confirmed through further research. In addition, a meta-analysis by Grimshaw et al, of 59 published evaluations of clinical practice guidelines, found that only 11 of the studies examined the impact of guideline use on patient outcomes.

The use of performance measures has become an essential component of guideline evaluation. Performance measures are defined by AHCPR as "methods or instruments to estimate or monitor the extent to which the actions of health care practitioner or provider conform to the clinical practice guideline.⁵² For example, if a guideline recommends that pain should be assessed and documented routinely at regular intervals postoperatively, as determined by the operation and the severity of pain (e.g., 2 hours while awake for 24 hours after surgery), then a performance measure would be calculating the number of patients whose pain was assessed and documented every 2 hours while awake out of the total number of surgical cases.⁵²

Most important, the incorporation of a performance measure in and of itself has been shown to effect guideline implementation. Harr et al. studied the development of quality indicators as educational tools to measure the implementation of clinical practice guidelines. Using AHCPR guidelines for treatment of depression, Harr and colleagues surveyed a sample of primary care physicians, medical directors and benefits managers to: 1) evaluate expectations and preferences in measuring quality-based clinical practice guidelines, and 2) to evaluate eight quality indicators using the guidelines on treatment of depression. The majority of participants reported that they want no

^{*} The Forum for Collaborative HIV Research will conduct a process to develop a research agenda in HIV-

more than nine quality indicators in a given situation, that quality indicators should be able measure both the process and outcome of care, and that they must provide effective measurement tools that can monitor compliance with established and widely accepted clinical guidelines. Indicators that were measured included: risk factors for progressing disease (in this case suicide), medication prescription, and follow-up treatment. The participants agreed that that quality indicators were valuable educational tools that can be used to improve the quality of health care.⁵³

Ullman et al. compare the effect of an externally driven "report card" methodology with the use of a provider-initiated performance measurement that monitors both processes and outcomes of care coupled with the use of clinical practice guidelines. While they found significant limitations in the use of report cards, the complementary approach of combining "instrument panels" (i.e. performance measures) and clinical guidelines within an overall continuous quality improvement framework appears to have resulted in improved clinical outcomes and reduced costs. ⁵⁴ Thus, performance measurements can be built into the guidelines to facilitate the collection and analysis of the relevant data, which can ultimately help evaluators track the adoption of the guidelines into clinical practice, and thus, make appropriate suggestions for improvement. ³⁹

Moreover, interactive computer systems used to facilitate the integration of practice guidelines also allow the facilitation of evaluation, audit, and feedback. Existing software packages make it easier for data (e.g. performance measurements) to be entered and retrieved, and also help to ensure the accuracy of the data. Thus, evaluation of guidelines can take place more rapidly and efficiently. As described earlier, Safran and colleagues and Lobach and Hammond demonstrated that through the use of an interactive computer-based patient record system, dissemination and implementation of practice guidelines could be achieved successfully. In addition, computerization makes evaluation of these methods more efficient. Other examples of guideline evaluation activities include: 13

Conducting peer and pilot reviews of drafts of the guidelines

Analyzing cost of using the recommended health care interventions and procedures

Monitoring receipt and awareness of guidelines

Examining the effectiveness of different modes of dissemination

Conducting targeted evaluation of specific guidelines in a variety of practice settings

Assessing the long-term effects of guidelines through analysis of longitudinal data sets

Supporting investigator-initiated research on guideline evaluation

related patient outcomes research in the Fall, 1998.

It is important to realize that the incorporation of clinical practice guidelines into care is an ongoing process. This is particularly true of the HIV clinical practice guidelines, which are very much a work in progress that change rapidly. In developing strategies for dissemination, implementation and evaluation, a combination of approaches will most likely be best to take into account the differing needs of various target audiences. Overall, the literature is clear that without clear-cut, well-defined strategies for dissemination and implementation, clinical practice guidelines, and the advances in clinical research that they represent, can not be effectively integrated into health care delivery. The ramifications of failing to properly implement the HIV clinical practice guidelines for the use on antiretroviral drugs are many and frightening. The successful transfer of these remarkable developments in HIV clinical research and drug development is as important as the discovery of the drugs themselves.

References Cited

- 1. Heath K, Hogg RS, Singer J, Schechter MT, O'Shaughnessy MV, Montaner JS. **Physician** concurrence with primary care guidelines for persons with HIV disease. *Intl J STD AIDS* 1997; 8(10): p. 609-613.
- 2. Meeker WC. **The future impact of clinical practice guidelines.** *J Manipulative Physiol Ther* 1995; 18: p. 606-610.
- 3. Kibbe DC, Kaluzny AD, McLaughlin CP. **Integrating guidelines with continuous quality improvement: Doing the right thing the right way to achieve the right goals.** *Jt Comm J Qual Improv* 1994; 20(4): p. 181-191.
- 4. Woolf, SH. Practice Guidelines: A new reality in medicine: Impact on patient care. *Arch Intern Med* 1993; 153: p. 2646-2655.
- 5. VanAmringe M, Shannon TE. **Awareness, assimilation, and adoption: The challenges of effective dissemination and the first AHCPR-sponsored guidelines.** *Qual Rev Bull* December 1992; p. 397-404.
- 6. Conroy M, Shannon W. Clinical guidelines: Their implementation in general practice. *Brit J Gen Pract* 1995; 45: p. 371-375.
- 7. Onion CWR, Walley T. **Clinical guidelines: development, implementation, and effectiveness.** *Postgrad Med J* 1995; 71: p. 3-9.
- 8. Banks J. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute marketing research study on the formatting, dissemination, and use of clinical practice guidelines: Executive review. 1995; p. 1-7.
- 9. Lomas J. Words without action: The production, dissemination, and impact of consensus recommendations. *Annual Rev Public Health* 1991; 12: p. 41-65.
- 10. Weingarten S, Ellrodt AG. The case for intensive dissemination: Adoption of practice guidelines in the coronary care unit. *Qual Rev Bull* December 1992; p. 449-455.
- 11. Selker HP. **Criteria for adoption in practice of medical practice guidelines.** *Am J Cardiol* 1993; 71: p. 339-341.
- 12. Haines A, Jones R. Implementing findings of research. BMJ 1994; 308: p. 1488-92.
- 13. Clinton JJ, McCormick K, Besteman J. **Enhancing clinical practice: The role of practice guidelines.** *Amer Psychologist* 1994; 49(1): p. 30-33.
- 14. Manfredi C, Czaja R, Buis M, Derk D. **Patient use of treatment-related information received from the cancer information service.** *Cancer* 1993; 71: p. 1326-1337.
- 15. Huttin C. The use of clinical guidelines to improve medical practice: Main issues in the United s. *Intern J for Qual in Health Care* 1997; 9(3): p. 207-214.
- 16. Kaegi, L. Dissemination and testing of clinical practice guidelines move to top of meeting agendas for AHCPR and society for medical decision making. *Qual RevBull* December 1991; p. 402-

- 17. Sechrest L, Backer TE, Rogers EM. Effective Dissemination of Clinical and Health Information. Effective Dissemination of Clinical and Health Information-Conference Summary; AHCPR Pub. No. 95-0015. 1995; Chapter 1, p. 1-7.
- 18. Tunis SR, Hayward RSA, Wilson MC, Rubin HR, Bass EB, Johnston M, Steinberg EP. **Internist's attitudes about clinical practice guidelines.** *Ann Intern Med* 1994; **120**, 956-963.
- 19. Gorton TA, Cranford CO, Golden WE, Walls RC, Pawelak JE. **Primary care physicians' response to dissemination of practice guidelines.** *Arch Fam Med* 1995; **4,** p. 135-142.
- 20. Horowitz CR, Goldberg HI, Martin DP, Wagner EH, Fihn SD, Christensen DB, Cheadle AD. Conducting a randomized controlled trial of CQI and academic detailing to implement clinical guidelines. *Jt Comm J Qual Improv* 1996; **22(11)**, p. 734-750.
- 21. Browner WS, Baron RB, Solkowitz S, Adler LJ, Gullion DS. **Physician management of hypercholeterolemia: A randomized trial of continuing medical education.** *Western J Med* 1994; **6**, p. 572-578.
- 22. Mittman BS, Tonesk X, Jacobson PD. **Implementing clinical practice guidelines: Social Influence Strategies and Practitioner Behavior Change**. *Qual Rev Bull* December 1992; p. 413-422.
- 23. Fowler G, Mant D, Fuller A, Jones L. The 'Help your patient stop' initiative: evaluation of smoking prevalence and dissemination of WHO/UICC guidelines in UK general practice. *Lancet* 1989; 1: 1253-1255.
- 24. Lobach DF, Hammond WE. Computerized decision support based on a clinical practice guideline improves compliance with care standards. *Am J Med* 1997; 102: p. 89-98.
- 25. Forrest D, Hoskins A, Hussey R. **Clinical guidelines and their implementation.** *Postgrad Med* 1996; 72(843): p. 19-22.
- 26. Hill MN, Levine DM, Whelton PK. **Awareness, use, and impact of the 1984 Joint National Committee Consensus Report on high blood pressure.** *Am J Public Health* 1988; 78: p. 1190-1194.
- 27. Stange KC, Kelly R, Chao J, et al. **Physician agreement with the US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendations.** *J Fam Pract* 1992; 34: p. 409-416.
- 28. McPhee SJ, Bird JA. **Implementation of cancer prevention guidelines in clinical practice.** *J Gen Intern Med* 1990; 5(supp): p. S116-S122.
- 29. Kaluzny AD, Konrad TR, McLaughlin CP. **Organizational strategies for implementing clinical guidelines.** *Jt Comm J Qual Improv* 1995; 21(7): p. 347-351.
- 30. Lomas J, Anderson GM, Domnick-Pierre K, Vayda E, Enkin MW, Hannah WJ. **Do practice guidelines guide practice?** *N Engl J Med* 1989; 321: p. 1306-1311.
- 31. Newton J, Knight D, Woolhead G. **General practitioners and clinical guidelines: A survey of knowledge, use and beliefs.** *Brit J Gen Pract* 1996; 46: p. 513-517.

- 32. Grol R. **Implementing guidelines in general practice.** *Quality in Health Care* 1992; 1: p. 184-191.
- 33. James PA, Cowan TM, Graham RP, Majeroni BA. Family physicians' attitudes about and use of clinical practice guidelines. *J of Fam Pract* 1997; 45: p. 341-347.
- 34. Banks J. The formatting and dissemination of clinical practice guidelines and their impact on physician behavior: Literature review. *National Heart, Lung & Blood Inst* 1995; p. 1-19.
- 35. Avorn J, Soumerai SB. Improving drug-therapy decisions through educational outreach: A randomized controlled trial of academically based detailing. *N Engl J Med*, 1983;308: p. 1457-146.
- 36. Soumerai SB, Avorn J. **Principles of educational outreach (academic detailing) to improve clinical decision making.** *JAMA* 1990; 263: p. 549-556.
- 37. Greer AL. The of the art versus the of the science. *Int J Technol Assess Health Care* 1988; 4: p. 5-26.
- 38. Schoenbaum SC, Gottlieb LK. **Algorithm based improvement of clinical quality.** *Br Med J* 1990; 301: p. 1374-1376.
- 39. Gottlieb LK, Sokol HN, Murrey, KO, Schoenbaum SC. **Algorithm-based clinical quality improvement: Clinical guidelines and continuous quality improvement.** *HMO Pract*; 6(1): p. 5-12.
- 40. Safran C, Rind DM, Davis RB, Ives D, Sands DZ, Currier J, Slack WV, Cotton DJ, Makadon HJ. **Effects of a knowledge-based electronic patient record on adherence to practice guidelines.** *M.D. Computing* 1996; 13(1): p. 55-63.
- 41. Safran C, Rind DM, Davis RB, Sands DZ, Wald J, Slack WV. **Development of a knowledge-based electronic patient record.** *M.D. Computing* 1996; 13(1): p. 46-54, 63.
- 42. Safran C, Rind DM, Davis RB, Ives D, Sands DZ, Currier J, Slack WV, Makadon HJ, Cotton DJ. Guidelines for management of HIV infection with computer-based patient's record. *Lancet* 1995; 346: p. 341-345.
- 43. Becker MH. Patient adherence to prescribed therapies. *Med Care* 1985; 23(5): p. 539-555.
- 44. Green LW. Educational strategies to improve compliance with therapeutic and preventive regimens: The recent evidence. In <u>Compliance in Health Care</u>. Haynes RB, Taylor DW, Sackett DL. (Ed.'s) John Hopkins University Press; Baltimore; Chap. 10, p. 157-173, 1979.
- 45. Bartlett EE, Grayson M, Barker R, Levine DM, Golden A, Libber S. **The effects of physician communications skills on patient satisfaction, recall, and adherence.** *J Chron Dis* 1984; 37(9/10): p. 755-764.
- 46. . Squier RW. A model of empathic understanding and adherence to treatment regimens in practitioner-patient relationships. Soc Sci Med 1990; 32(1): p. 84-91.
 47.
 - 47. Delamothe T. **Wanted: Guidelines that doctors will follow [editorial]**. *BMJ* 1993; 307: p. 218. Basinski AS. **Evaluation of clinical practice guidelines.** *J Can Med Assoc*, 1995; 153: p. 1575-
- 48. Basinski AS. **Evaluation of clinical practice guidelines.** *J Can Med Assoc*, 1995; 153: p. 1575-1581.

- 49. Oxman AD, Thomson MA, Davis DA, Haynes RB. **No magic bullets: a systematic review of 102 trials of interventions to improve professional practice.** *Can Med Assoc J* 1995; 153: p. 1423-1431.
- 50. Worrall G, Chaulk P, Freake D. **The effects of clinical practice guidelines on patient outcomes in primary care: a systematic review.** *Can Med Assoc J* 1997; 156(12): p. 1705-1712.
- 51. Grimshaw JM, Russell IT. **Effect of clinical guidelines on medical practice: A systematic review of rigorous evaluations.** *Lancet* 1993; 342: p.1317-1322.
- 52. Agency for Health Care Policy Research. **Using clinical practice guidelines to evaluate quality of care.** *AHCPR Pub. No. 95-0045* March 1995; Volume 1.
- Harr DS, Balas EA, Mitchell J. **Developing quality indicators as educational tools to measure the implementation of clinical practice guidelines.** *Am J Med Qual* 1996; 11(4): p. 179-185.
- 54. Ullman M, Metzger CK, Kuzel T, Bennett. **Performance measurement in pro cancer care: Beyond report cards.** *Urology* 1996; 47(3): p. 356-365.

Clinical Practice Guidelines Bibliography

Agency for Health Care Policy Research. Using clinical practice guidelines to evaluate quality of care. AHCPR Pub. No. 95-0045 March 1995; Volume 1.

Altman LK. **Bringing the news to the public: The role of the media.** *Annals New York Acad Sci* 1993; 703: p. 200-209.

Angier JJ, Beck SL, Eyre HJ. Use of the PDQ system in a clinical setting. *Bull Med Libr Assoc* 1990; 78(1): p. 15-22.

Appleton JV, Cowley S. **Analyzing clincal practice guidelines: A method of documentary analysis.** *J Adv Nurs*, 1997; 25: p. 1008-1017.

Armstrong D, Fry J, Armstrong P. **General practitioners' views of clinical guidelines for the management of asthma.** *Int J Qual Health Care* 1994; 6(2): p. 199-202.

Auplish S. Using clinical audit to promote evidence-based medicine and clinical effectiveness--an overview of one health authority's experience. *J Eval Clin Practice* 1997; 3(1): p. 77-82.

Avorn J, Soumerai SB. Improving drug-therapy decisions through educational outreach: A randomized controlled trial of academically based detailing. *N Engl J Med*, 1983;308: p. 1457-1463.

Baldwin LM, Raine T, Jenkins LD, Hart LG, Rosenblatt R. **Do providers adhere to ACOG standards? The case of prenatal care.** *Obstet & Gynecol* 84(4): p. 549-56.

Banks J. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute marketing research study on the formatting, dissemination, and use of clinical practice guidelines: Executive review. 1995; p. 1-7.

Banks J. The formatting and dissemination of clinical practice guidelines and their impact on physician behavior: Literature review. *National Heart, Lung & Blood Inst* 1995; p. 1-19.

Basinski AS. Evaluation of clinical practice guidelines. J Can Med Assoc, 1995; 153: p. 1575-1581.

Berwick DM. Continuous improvement as an ideal in health care. N Engl J Med 1989; 320(1): p. 53-56.

Burns LR, Denton M, Goldfein S, Warrick L, Morenz B, Sales B. The use of continuous quality improvement methods in the development and dissemination of medical practice guidelines. *Qual Rev Bull* 1992; p.434-39.

Carpenter CE, Nash DB, Johnson NE. **Evaluating the cost containment potential of clinical guidelines.** *Qual Rev Bull* April 1993; p. 119-123.

Clinton JJ, McCormick K, Besteman J. Enhancing clinical practice: The role of practice guidelines. *Amer Psychologist* 1994; 49(1): p. 30-33.

Conroy M, Shannon W. Clinical guidelines: Their implementation in general practice. *Brit J Gen Pract* 1995; 45: p. 371-375.

Delamothe T. Wanted: Guidelines that doctors will follow [editorial]. BMJ 1993; 307: p. 218.

Ellrodt AG, Conner L, Riedinger M, Weingarten S. **Measuring and improving physician compliance with clinical practice guidelines.** *Ann Intern Med* 1995; 122: p. 277-282.

Ely JW, Goerdt Cj, Bergus GR, West CP, Dawson JD, Doebbeling BN. **The effect of physician characteristics on compliance with adult preventive care guidelines.** *Fam Med* 1998; 30(1): p. 34-39.

Fang E, Mittman BS, Weingarten S. Use of clinical practice guidelines in managed care physician groups. *Arch Intern Med* 1996; 5: p. 528-531.

Fare C, Ugolini D. The PDQ (Physician Data Query), the cancer databases, in oncological clinical practice. *Cancer Treat Rev* 1991; 18: p. 137-143.

Forrest D, Hoskins A, Hussey R. **Clinical guidelines and their implementation.** *Postgrad Med* 1996; 72(843): p. 19-22.

Freed GL, Bordley WC, Clark SJ, Konrad TR. Universal hepatitis B immunization of infants: Reactions of pediatricians and family physicians over time. *Pediatrics* 1994; 93: p. 747-751.

Fridsma DB, Gennari JH, Musen MA. Making generic guidelines site-specific. AMIA 1996; p. 597-601.

Geyman, JP. Clinical guidelines and primary care. JABFP 1992; 5(6): p. 656-657.

Goldberg HI, McGough H. **Testing the implementation of clinical guidelines.** *IRB* 1991; 13(6): p. 1-7.

Gorton TA, Cranford CO, Golden WE, Walls RC, Pawelak JE. **Primary care physicians' response to dissemination of practice guidelines.** *Arch Fam Med* 1995; 4: p. 135-142.

Gottlieb LK, Sokol HN, Murrey, KO, Schoenbaum SC. **Algorithm-based clinical quality improvement: Clinical guidelines and continuous quality improvement.** *HMO Pract*; 6(1): p. 5-12.

Greer AL. The of the art versus the of the science. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 1988; 4: p. 5-26.

Grilli R, Lomas J. Evaluating the message: The relationship between compliance rate and the subject of a practice guideline. *Med Care* 1994; 32(3): p. 202-213.

Grimshaw JM, Russell IT. Effect of clinical guidelines on medical practice: A systematic review of rigorous evaluations. *Lancet* 1993; 342: p.1317-1322.

Grogan CM, Feldman RD, Nyman JA, Shapiro J. **How will we use clinical guidelines? The experience of Medicare carriers.** *J Health Polit Pol Law* 1994; 19(1): p. 7-26.

Hadorn DC. Who really needs to be in the intensive care unit: Using clinical guidelines to define healthcare needs. *Crit Care Med* 1994; 22(10): p. 1679-4682.

Haines A, Jones R. Implementing findings of research. BMJ 1994; 308: p. 1488-92.

Harr DS, Balas EA, Mitchell J. **Developing quality indicators as educational tools to measure the implementation of clinical practice guidelines.** *Am J Med Qual* 1996; 11(4): p. 179-185.

Haynes RB, Davis DA, McKibbon KA, Tugwell P. A critical appraisal of the efficacy of continuing medical education. *JAMA* 1984; 251: p. 61-4.

Haynes RB, Hayward RS, Lomas J. **Bridges between health care research evidence and clinical practice.** *J Am Med Informatics Assn* 1995; 2: p. 342-350.

Hill MN, Levine DM, Whelton PK. Awareness, use, and impact of the 1984 Joint National Committee Consensus Report on high blood pressure. *Am J Public Health* 1988; 78: p. 1190-1194.

Horowitz CR, Goldberg HI, Martin DP, Wagner EH, Fihn SD, Christensen DB, Cheadle AD. Conducting a randomized controlled trial of CQI and academic detailing to implement clinical guidelines. *Jt Comm J Qual Improv* 1996; 22(11): p. 734-750.

Huttin C. The use of clinical guidelines to improve medical practice: Main Issues in the United s. *Intern J for Qual in Health Care* 1997; 9(3): p. 207-214.

James PA, Cowan TM, Graham RP, Majeroni BA. **Family physicians' attitudes about and use of clinical practice guidelines.** *J Fam Pract* 1997; 45: p. 341-347.

Kaegi, L. Dissemination and testing of clinical practice guidelines move to top of meeting agendas for AHCPR and society for medical decision making. *Qual RevBull* December 1991; p. 402-412.

Kaegi L. Using Guidelines to change clinical behavior: Dissemination through area health education centers and geriatric education centers. *Qual Rev Bull* May 1993; p. 165-169.

Kaluzny AD, Konrad TR, McLaughlin CP. **Organizational strategies for implementing clinical guidelines.** *Jt Comm J Qual Improv* 1995; 21(7): p. 347-351.

Kibbe DC, Kaluzny AD, McLaughlin CP. Integrating guidelines with continuous quality improvement: Doing the right thing the right way to achieve the right goals. *Jt Comm J Qual Improv* 1994; 20(4): p. 181-191.

Kirschbaum M. The development, implementation and evaluation of guidelines for the management of breast cancer related lymphoedema. Eur J Cancer Care 1996; 5: p. 246-251.

Lane DS, Polednak AP, Burg MA. Effect of continuing medical education and cost reduction on physician compliance with mammography screening guidelines. *J Fam Pract* 1991; 33: p. 359-368.

Lee TH. Evaluating decision aids: The next painful step. J Gen Intern Med 1990; 5: p. 528-529.

Litzelman DK, Tierney WM. **Physicians' reasons for failing to comply with computerized preventive care guidelines.** *J Gen Intern Med* 1996; 11: p. 497-499.

Lobach DF, Hammond WE. Computerized decision support based on a clinical practice guideline improves compliance with care standards. *Am J Med* 1997; 102: p. 89-98.

Lomas J. **Diffusion, dissemination, and implementation: Who should do what?** *Annals New York Acad Sci* 1993; 703: p. 226-235.

Lomas J. Improving research dissemination and uptake in the health sector: Beyond the sound of one hand clapping. McMaster University Centre for Health Economics and Policy Analysis - Policy Commentary C97-1, November 1997.

Lomas J. Words without action: The production, dissemination, and impact of consensus recommendations. *Annual Rev Public Health* 1991; 12: p. 41-65.

Lomas J, Anderson GM, Domnick-Pierre K, Vayda E, Enkin MW, Hannah WJ. **Do practice guidelines guide practice?** *N Engl J Med* 1989; 321: p. 1306-1311.

Lomas J, Enkin MW, Anderson GM, Hannah WJ, Vayda E, Singer J. **Opinion leaders vs audit and feedback to implement practice guidelines: Delivery after previous cesarean section.** *JAMA* 1991; 265: p. 2202-2207.

Manfredi C, Czaja R, Buis M, Derk D. **Patient use of treatment-related information received from the cancer information service.** *Cancer* 1993; 71: p. 1326-1337.

McPhee SJ, Bird JA. **Implementation of cancer prevention guidelines in clinical practice.** *J Gen Intern Med* 1990; 5(supp): p. S116-S122.

Meeker WC. The future impact of clinical practice guidelines. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther* 1995; 18: p. 606-610.

Mittman BS, Tonesk X, Jacobson PD. **Implementing clinical practice guidelines: Social influence strategies and practitioner behavior change.** *Qual Rev Bull* December 1992; p. 413-422.

Murrey KO, Gottlieb LK, Schoenbaum SC. **Implementing clinical guidelines: A quality management approach to reminder systems.** *Qual RevBull* December 1992; p. 423-433.

Newton J, Knight D, Woolhead G. General practitioners and clinical guidelines: A survey of knowledge, use and beliefs. *Brit J Gen Pract* 1996; 46: p. 513-517.

Onion CWR, Walley T. Clinical guidelines: development, implementation, and effectiveness. *Postgrad Med J* 1995; 71: p. 3-9.

Orchard C. Comparing healthcare outcomes. BMJ 1994; 308: p.1493-6.

Oxman AD, Thomson MA, Davis DA, Haynes RB. **No magic bullets: a systematic review of 102 trials of interventions to improve professional practice.** *Can Med Assoc J* 1995; 153: p. 1423-1431.

Purves I. Computerised guidelines in primary health care: Reflections and implications. In <u>Health Telematics</u> for Clinical Guidelines and Protocols. (Eds. Gordon C, Christensen JP) 1995; IOS Press, p. 57-74.

Reiser SJ. The era of the patient: Using the experience of illness in shaping the missions of health care. *JAMA* 1993; 269(8): p. 1012-1017.

Robinson L, Stacy R. Palliative care in the community: Setting practice guidelines for primary care teams. *Brit J Gen Pract* 1994; 44: p. 461-464.

Rosenberg W, Donald A. **Evidence-based medicine: an approach to clinical problem solving.** *Br Med J* 1995; 310 (6987): p. 1122-1126.

Sandrick K. Out in front: Managed care helps push clinical guidelines forward. *Hospitals* May 5, 1993; p. 30-31.

Schectman JM, Elinsky EG, Pawlson LG. **Effect of education and feedback on thyroid function testing strategies of primary care clinicians.** *Arch Intern Med* 1991; 151 p. 2163- 2166.

Sechrest L, Backer TE, Rogers EM. Effective dissemination of clinical and health information. <u>Effective</u> <u>Dissemination of Clinical and Health Information-Conference Summary</u>; AHCPR Pub. No. 95-0015. 1995; Chapter 1, p. 1-7.

Selker HP. Criteria for adoption in practice of medical practice guidelines. *Am J Cardiol* 1993; 71: p. 339-341.

Shaw DJ, Czaja RF. User interactions with the PDQ cancer information system. *Bull Med Libr Assoc* 1992; 80(1): p. 29-35.

Singh, RK, Perros P, Frier BM. Hospital management of diabetic ketacidosis: Are clinical guidelines implemented effectively. *Diabetic Med* 1997; 14: p. 482-486.

Soumerai SB, Avorn J. Principles of educational outreach (academic detailing) to improve clinical decision making. *JAMA* 1990; 263: p. 549-556.

Stange KC, Kelly R, Chao J, et al. **Physician agreement with the US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendations.** *J Fam Pract* 1992; 34: p. 409-416.

Stovall EL. Practice Guidelines: Patient's perspective. Oncol 1996; 10(11)-suppl.: p. 255-260.

Tunis SR, Hayward RSA, Wilson MC, Rubin HR, Bass EB, Johnston M, Steinberg EP. **Internist's attitudes about clinical practice guidelines.** *Ann Intern Med* 1994; 120: 956-963.

Ullman M, Metzger CK, Kuzel T, Bennett. **Performance measurement in pro cancer care: Beyond report cards.** *Urology* 1996; 47(3): p. 356-365.

VanAmringe M, Shannon TE. Awareness, assimilation, and adoption: The challenges of effective dissemination and the first AHCPR-sponsored guidelines. *Qual Rev Bull* December 1992; p. 397-404.

Wiengarten S, Ellrodt AG. The case for intensive dissemination: Adoption of practice guidelines in the coronary care unit. *Qual Rev Bull* December1992; p. 449-455.

Woolf, SH. Practice Guidelines: A new reality in medicine-impact on patient care. *Arch Intern Med* 1993; 153: p. 2646-2655.

Worrall G, Chaulk P, Freake D. The effects of clinical practice guidelines on patient outcomes in primary care: a systematic review. *Can Med Assoc J* 1997; 156(12): p. 1705-1712.

HIV-Related Articles:

Bozette SA, Asch S. Developing quality review criteria from standards of care for HIV disease: A framework. *J Acq Imm Defic Synd & Hum Retrov* 1995; 8(Supp 1): p. S45-S52.

Daniolos PT, Holmes VF. **HIV public policy and psychiatry: An examination of ethical issues and professional guidelines.** *Psychosomatics* 1995; 36: p. 12-21.

Goldschmidt RH. **Guidelines for evaluating and managing early HIV infection.** *Am Fam Physician;* 49(4): p. 724-726.

Horsburgh CR, Gordin FM, Schaier S, Silver R. Effect of subspecialty training and experience on agreement with HIV guidelines. *J Gen Intern Med* 1997; 12: p. 518-519.

Owens DK, Nease RF. A normative analytic framework for development of practice guidelines for specific clinical populations. *Med Decis Making* 1997; 17: p. 409-426.

Safran C, Rind DM, Davis RB, Ives D, Sands DZ, Currier J, Slack WV, Cotton DJ, Makadon HJ. **Effects of a knowledge-based electronic patient record on adherence to practice guidelines.** *M.D. Computing* 1996; 13(1): p. 55-63.

Safran C, Rind DM, Davis RB, Sands DZ, Wald J, Slack WV. **Development of a knowledge-based electronic patient record.** *M.D. Computing* 1996; 13(1): p. 46-54, 63.

Safran C, Rind DM, Davis RB, Ives D, Sands DZ, Currier J, Slack WV, Makadon HJ, Cotton DJ. **Guidelines for management of HIV infection with computer-based patient's record.** *Lancet* 1995; 346: p. 341-345.

Schietinger H, Levi J. Consumer protections for people living with HIV within systems of managed care. J Acq Imm Def Synd & Hum Retrov 1995; 8(suppl 1): p. S80-S84.

Stein MD, O'Sullivan P, Rubensteing L, Weller P, Wachtel T. **The ambulatory care of HIV-infected persons: A survey of physician practice patterns.** *J Gen Intern Med* 1992; 7: p. 180-186.

Voelker R. Rural communities struggle with AIDS. JAMA 1998; 279(1): p. 5-6.

FCHR Project on the Dissemination and Evaluation of the HIV Clinical Practice Guidelines

Holiday Inn Downtown 1155 14th Street NW Washington, DC

May 11 - 12, 1998

Meeting Agenda

Monday, May 11th

9:00 - 9:30: Continental breakfast

9:30 - 10:00: Welcome and Introductions -

David Barr, J.D. - Director Forum for Collaborative HIV Research

Sophia W. Chang, M.D., M.P.H. - Director of HIV/AIDS Programs Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation

10:00 - 10:45: Overview of the Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in HIV-Infected

Adults and Adolescents, Pediatrics and during Pregnancy -

Eric P. Goosby, M.D. - Director, HHS Office of HIV/AIDS Policy

Lynne Mofenson, M.D. - Associate Branch Chief for Clinical Research National Institute of Child Health and Human Development

10:45 - 11:15: The Need for Dissemination of the HIV Clinical Practice Guidelines -

Charles van der Horst, M.D. - Associate Professor of Medicine Department of Medicine - University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill

11:15 - 11:30: Break

11:30 - 12:00: Community Patterns of Care for HIV Disease

Carol Brosgart, M.D. - Medical Director East Bay AIDS Center

12:00 - 12:30: Patient Comprehension and Retention of Medical Information -

Seth Kalishman, Ph.D. - Associate Professor of Medicine Center for AIDS Intervention Research - University of Wisconson

12:30 - 1:30: Lunch

1:30 -2:15: Target Audiences: Identification and Needs Assessment

Health care providers: Linda Frank, R.N., Ph.D. - Director

Pennsylvania AIDS Education Training Center

Graduate School of Public Health - Univ. of Pittsburgh

Patients: Billy Pick - Minority Initiatives Counselor

San Francisco Department of Public Health

Service Providers: Moises Agosto - Director of Treatment Advocacy

National Minority AIDS Council

Health care plans: John Ludden, M.D. - Senior Vice-President

Harvard Pilgrim Health Care

2:15 - 3:15: Current HIV Treatment Information Dissemination Efforts

Federal Government: Deborah Katz, R.N. - Director

Office of Program Operations & Scientific Information National Institute of Allergies and

Infectious Disease

Government: Bruce Agins, M.D., M.P.H. - Medical Director

New York AIDS Institute

Community Organizations: Pablo Colon - Director,

Dept. of Treatment Education & Advocacy

Gay Mens' Health Crisis

Professional Associations: John Henning, Ph.D. - Director, Dept. of STD/HIV

American Medical Association

Pharmaceutical Industry: Martin Mattingly, Pharm.D.

Director of Marketing Agouron Pharmaceuticals

3:15 - 3:30: Break

3:30 - 4:15: Evaluation of Clinical Practice Guideline Dissemination

Steven Asch, M.D., M.P.H. - Resident Consultant RAND Corporation

Leonna Markson, ScD. - Director - Outcomes Research & Management

Merck and Co.

4:15 - 5:30: Current Research Findings

Meeting participants will present findings from current research

5:30 - 6:30: Reception

Tuesday, May 12th

8:30 - 9:00: Continental breakfast

9:00 - 9:45: Challenges to Successful Dissemination

Tim Westmoreland

Federal Legislation Clinic, Georgetown Law School

Richard Jeffreys - Access Project Director

AIDS Treatment Data Network

9:45 - 10:00: Charge to Workgroups

David Barr - Forum for Collaborative HIV Research

10:00 - 10:15: Break

10:15 - 2:00: Workgroup Sessions (a working lunch will be available at 12:30)

2:00 - 3:00: Reports from Working Group/Close

FCHR Project on Dissemination and Evaluation of the HIV Clinical Practice Guidelines

Planning Committee

Bruce Agins, M.D., M.P.H.

Medical Director New York State AIDS Institute NYS Dept. of Health

John Bartlett, MD

Director, Division of Infectious Diseases Johns Hopkins University

Sam A. Bozzette, MD, PhD

Senior Research Associate SDVA Medical Center

Sophia Chang, MD., MPH

Director of HIV Programs
The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation

Donald Conway, MD., MBA

Director, Epidemiology and Outcomes Research Abbott Laboratories

Ellen C. Cooper, MD, MPH

Health Sciences Administrator Office of AIDS Research, NIH

Elaine M. Daniels, MD., PhD

Associate Director for Science Policy Office of HIV / AIDS Policy, OPHS, OS

Deb Dawson

Principal Clinical Research Scientist Glaxo-Wellcome

Ruth Finkelstein, ScD

Health Policy Analyst New York Academy of Medicine

Paul A. Gaist, Ph.D, MPH

Chair, Information Dissemination Coordinating Committee Office of AIDS Research, NIH

Randy Graydon

Director of the Division of Advocacy and Special Issues Health Care Financing Administration

Leslie Hardy, MPH

U.S. Dept. Of Health & Human Services Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation

Julia Hidalgo, ScD, MSW, MPH

Senior Staff Scientist Center for Health Policy Research

Jeff Jacobs

Director Government Affairs AIDS Action Council

Robert S. Janssen, MD

Division of HIV/AIDS Prevention Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Jonathan Kaplan, MD

Opportunistic Diseases Branch Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Deborah Katz, R.N.

Director, Office of Program Operations & Scientific Information National Institutes of Health

Joseph F. Kelly

National Association of State and Territorial AIDS Directors

John Ludden, MD

Senior Vice President Medical Affairs Harvard Pilgram Health Care

Joe O'Neill, MD., MS., MPH

Associate Administrator for AIDS

Department of Health & Human Services

Marj Plumb

Gay and Lesbian Medical Association

Mike Saag, MD

Associate Professor of Medicine University of Alabama - Birmingham

Catherine Wilfert, MD

Professor Emeritus Duke University Medical Center

Todd Summers

Office of National AIDS Policy

Liz Wehr, JD

Senior Research Staff Scientist Center for Health Policy Research

Workshop Participant List

Bruce Agins, MD., MPH

Medical Director

New York AIDS Institute

5 Penn Plaza

New York, NY 10001 bda01@health..ny.us

Office: 212-613-2428 / Fax: 212-613-4994

Moises Agosto

Director of Treatment and Research National Minority AIDS Council (NMAC)

1931 13th Street, NW Washington, DC 20009 moisesa@aol.com

Office: 202-483-6622/Fax: 202-483-1135

Rodney Armstead, MD., FACP Executive Vice President Watts Health Foundation, Inc. 3405 Imperial Highway - Suite 304

Inglewood, CA 90056 rcarmstead@compuserv.com

Office: 310-671-3465 / Fax: 310-412-4198

Paul Arons, MD

of FL Bureau of HIV/AIDS

1317 Winewood Blvd. - Bldg. 6 - Room 402

Tallahassee, FL 32399-0700 paul arons@doh..fl.us

Office: 850-921-2202/Fax: 850-414-6719

Steven Asch, MD., MPH Resident Consultant

RAND

P.O. Box 2138

Santa Monica, CA 90407-2138 steven_asch@rand.org

Office: 310-393-0411x6516/Fax: 310-393-4818

A. Cornelius Baker Executive Director

National Association of People with AIDS

1413 K Street NW, 7th Floor Washington, DC 20005-3442

napa@thecure.org

Office: 202-898-0414/Fax: 202-898-0435

Violet Baxter

Health Insurance Specialist

HCFA - Ctr for Medicaid & Operations 7500 Security Boulevard - C4-25-02

Baltimore, MD 21244 vbaxter@hcfa.gov Office: 410-786-4577/Fax: 410-786-3252

Annette Brands Executive Director Project Inform 205 13th Street Suite 2001

San Francisco, CA 94103 abrands@projinf.org

Office: 415-558-8669 / Fax: 415-558-0684

Carol Brosgart, MD Medical Director East Bay AIDS Center 3031 Telegraph Avenue

Suite 235

Berkley, CA 94705 clbatebac@aol.com

Office: 510-204-1383 / Fax: 510-848-9764

Cynthia Cadden, Rn, MSN

HIV/AIDS Treatment Information Service (ATIS)

P.O. Box 6303

Rockville, MD 20849-6303

ccaden@cdcnac.org

Office: 301-519-5750/Fax: 301-519-6616

Henry Chang, MD

Vice President - Virology Group

DuPont-Merck Hickory Run 2055 P.O. Box 80723

Wilmington, DE 19880-0723 laurent.fischer@dupontmerck.com

Mel Chang

Senior Health Policy Analyst

Agency for Health Care Admin. - Offc. of Health

Policy

2727 Maham Drive - Fort Knox Complex

Bldg. 3 - Suite 1103B Tallahassee, FL 32308 changm@fdhc..fl.us

Office: 850-922-5530 / Fax: 850-922-2897

Sophia Chang, MD., MPH Director of HIV Programs

The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation

2400 Sand Hill Road Menlo Park, CA 94025 schang@kff.org

Office: 650-854-9400x122/Fax: 650-854-4800

Chris Collins

Appropriations Associate Rayburn Building - Room 2457 Washington, DC 20515-0508 chris.collins@mail.house.gov Office: 202-225-4965/Fax: 202-225-8259

Pablo Colon **GMHC**

119 West 24th Street New York, NY 10011 pabloc@gmhc.org

Office: 212-367-1450/Fax: 212-337-3684

Mariella Cummings, RN., MS Washington Department of Health P.O. Box 47844

Olympia, WA 98504-7844

Office: 360-236-3466/Fax: 360-586-5440

Elaine M. Daniels, MD., PhD Associate Director for Science Policy Office of HIV / AIDS Policy, OPHS, OS Room 736-E, Humphrey Building 200 Independence Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20201 edaniels@osophs.dhhs.gov

Office: 202-690-5560 / Fax: 202-690-7560

Lawrence Deyton, MD., MSPH (132)

VA Headquarters 810 Vermont Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20420 dr.bopper.deyton@mail.va.gov

Office: (202) 273-8567/Fax: (202)

273-9080

Susan M. Dooha

Director of Health Care Access

GMHC

119 W. 24th Street New York, NY 10011 susand@gmhc.org

Office: 212-367-1228/Fax: 212-367-1235

Gale Dutcher

Special Assistant to the Associate Director

National Library of Medicine 8600 Rockville Pike Bethesda, MD 20894 dutcher@nlm.nih.gov

Office: 301-496-5082/Fax: 301-4803537

Jeffrey Fessel, MD

Director - HIV Research Unit

Kaiser Foundation Health Plan - N. Calf.

2200 O'Farrel Street San Francisco, CA 94115

Office: 415-202-2854/Fax: 415-202-2901

Linda Frank, PhD., MSN

Director PA - AETC 418 Parran Hall Pittsburgh, PA 15261 frankie@unixs.cis.pitt.edu

Office: 412-624-9118/Fax: 412-624-4767

Paul A. Gaist, Ph.D, MPH Chair, Information Dissemination **Coordinating Committee** Office of AIDS Research, NIH **Building 31, Room 4C06** 31 Center Drive Bethesda, MD 20892

gaistp@nih.gov

Office: 301-402-3555 / Fax: 301-496-4843

James Gilpin President **Interactive Training Media** 1725 Mahan Drive Tallahassee, FL 32308 itm@itm-info.com

Office: 850-877-5865/Fax: 850-877-7936

Sissi Pham, PharmD U.S. Medical Affairs Glaxo Wellcome Inc. 5 Moore Drive

Research Triangle Park, NC 27709-3398

dg24105@glaxowellcome.com

Office: 919-483-8855/Fax: 919-315-6029

Eric Goosby, MD

Director

DHHS Office of HIV/AIDS Policy **Hubert H. Humphry Building** 200 Independence Ave., SW, 736E

Washington, DC 20201 egoosby@osophs.dhhs.gov

Office: 202-690-5560 / Fax: 202-690-7560

Gail Grabczynski

Making the Difference International, Inc. 101 N. Wacker Drive - Suite CM166

Chicago, IL 60606

thedifference@mindspring.com Office: 312-607-1385/Fax: 773-643-1435

Thaddeus Grimes Gruzcka, MA **Associate Director - Interscience** 1675 Broadway - 5th Floor

New York, NY 10019

tgrimes@intersciencepr.com

Office: 212-468-3148/Fax: 212-468-3620

Annette Hanson, MD Medical Director

MA DoH - Division of Medical Assistance

600 Washington Street Boston, MA 02111 ahanson@nt.dma..ma.us

Office: 617-210-5683/Fax: 617-210-5003

Leslie Hardy, MPH

DHHS Office of the Assistant Secretary

for Planning and Evaluation

200 Independence Ave., SW, Room 442E

Washington, DC 20201 lhardy@osaspe.dhhs.gov

Office: 202-260-5156 / Fax: 202-690-6167

John J. Henning, PhD

Director - Dept of STD & HIV

American Medical Association

515 North Street

Chicago, IL 60610

john_henning@ama-assn.org

Office: 312-464-4566 / 312-464-5841

Julia Hidalgo, ScD, MSW, MPH

Senior Staff Scientist

GWU Center for Health Policy Research

2021 K Street, NW - Suite 800

Washington, DC 20006

ihojxh@gwumc.edu

Office: 202-530-2375 / Fax: 202-296-0025

Jeff Jacobs

Director - Government Affairs

AIDS Action Council

1875 Connecticut Ave., NW, Suite 700

Washington, DC 20009

jjacobs@aidsaction.org

Office: 202-986-1300 / 202-986-1345

Richard Jeffreys

Access Project Director

AIDS Treatment Data Network

611 Broadway

Suite 613

New York, NY 10012

rjefferys@health.nyam.org

Office: 212-260-3084 / Fax: 212-260-8869

Steven A. Jennison, MD

Medical Director - HIV/AIDS/STD Bureau

New Mexico Department of Health

525 Camino de los Marquez

Suite 1 (Marquez Place)

Santa Fe, NM 87501

stevej@doh..nm.us

Office: 505-476-8452 / Fax: 505-476-8527

Kim Johnson

Health Policy Analyst

American Public Welfare Association

801 First Street, NE - Suite 500

Washington, DC 20002

kjohnson@apwa.org

Office: 202-682-0100/Fax: 202-289-6555

Seth Kalichman, MD

Associate Professor

Center for AIDS Intervention Research

Medical College of Wisconsin

8700 Watertown Plank Road

Milwaukee, WI 53226

psvcsk@panther.gsu.edu

Office: 414-456-7700 / Fax: 414-287-4209

Jonathan Kaplan, MD

Assistant for Opportunistic Diseases Branch

CDC&P

1 Mail Stop G-29

1600 Clifton Road, NE

Atlanta, GA 30333

jxk2@cdc.gov

Office: 404-639-2004 / Fax: 404-639-2029

Deborah Katz, R.N.

Director, Office of Program Operations

& Scientific Information

National Institutes of Health

Solar Building, Room 2A20

Rockville, MD 20892

dk30f@nih.gov

Office: 301-496-0545 / Fax: 301-402-1505

Joseph F. Kelly

Deputy Director - NASTAD

444 North Capitol Street, NW

Suite 339

Washington, DC 20001

Office: 202-434-8040

Fax: 202-434-8092

Richard Klein

HIV / AIDS Program Director

Office of Special Health Issues

FDA - Parklawn Building

5600 Fishers Lane - Rm. 9-49, HF-12

Rockville, MD 20857

rklein@oc.fda.gov

Office: 301-827-4460 / Fax: 301-443-4555

Michelle Kofman, MPH

Manager - Outreach & Health Education St.Lukes Roosevelt - HIV/AIDS Center

1000 10th Avenue - Room 14A-36

New York, NY 10019 mdkof@aol.com

Office: 212-523-6046/Fax: 212-523-6023

Juanita Koziol, MS., CS., RN **Public Health Analyst** HRSA/HAB - National AETC Program Parklawn Building - Room 9A39 5600 Fishers Lane Rockville, MD 20857 jkoziol@hrsa.dhhs.gov

Office: 301-443-6068 / Fax: 301-443-9887

John Ludden, MD Senior Vice President **Medical Affairs** Harvard Pilgram Health Care 10 Brookline Place, West Brookline, MA 02146 john ludden@hphc.org

Office: 617-730-7844 / Fax: 617-730-7852

June Lunney, PhD., RN **AIDS Coordinator NIH Institute of Nursing Research** Bldg. 45 - Room 3AN-12 9000 Rockville Pike Bethesda, MD 20892-6300 June-lunney@nih.gov

Office: 301-594-6908 / Fax: 301-480-8260

Harvey Makadon, MD **Beth-Israel Medical Center** 330 Brookline Avenue Boston, MA 02215 hmakadon@bidmc.harvard.edu

Office: 617-667-3996/Fax: 617-667-8900

Leonna Markson, ScD Director - Outcomes Research & Mgmt Merck & Co., Inc. P.O. Box 4 - WP39-164 West Point, PA 19486-0004 leona markson@merck.com

Office: 215-652-6098/Fax: 215-652-0860

Martin Mattingly, Pharm.D Director of Marketing Agouron Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 3301 N. Torrey Pines Court La Jolla, CA 92037 martin.mattingly@agouron.com

Office: 619-622-3250/Fax: 619-622-8054

Jean F. McGuire

MA Department of Public Health HIV/AIDS Bureau 250 Washington Street - 3rd Floor Boston, MA 02108-4619

jean.mcguire@.ma.us

Office: 617-624-5303/Fax: 617-624-5399

Lynne Mofenson, MD NICMO, NIH 6100 Executive Blvd. Room 4B11 Rockville, MD 20852 lm65d@nih.gov

Office: 301-496-7339/Fax: 301-496-8678

Clark Moore **Associate Director** AIDS Policy Ctr for Children, Youth & Families 918 16th Street, NW - Suite 901 Washington, DC 20006 cmoore@aidspolicycenter.org Office: 202-785-3564/Fax: 202-785-3579 Kenneth P. Moritsugu, MPH., MD Assistant Surgeon General & Medical Director Federal Bureau of Prisons 320 First Street, NW Washington, DC 20534

Office: 202-307-3055/Fax: 202-307-0826

John Palinicek

Department of Health & Human Services HRSA AIDS Program Office, Room 7-20 5600 Fishers Lane - Room 7-20

Rockville, MD 20857 jpalinicek@hrsa.dhhs.gov

Office: 301-443-4274 / Fax: 301-443-3323

Billy Pick, JD., MSW **Community Constituency Group** University of California, San Francisco **Community Advisory Board** 1163 Fell Street San Francisco, CA 94117 billy_pick@dph.sf.ca.us

Office: 415-554-9048 / Fax: 415-431-7547

Mari Plumb **GLMA** 459 Fulton Street **Suite 107** San Francisco, CA 94102 mplumb@glma.org Office: 415-255-4547/Fax: 415-255-4784

Randall S. Pope

Director HIV / AIDS Prevention and Intervention Section Michigan Department of Community Health 3423 N. Martin Luther King, Jr. Blvd. P.O. Box 30195

Lansing, MI 48909

Office: 517-335-8468 / Fax: 517-335-9611

Dianne Rausch, Ph.D
Deputy Director - National Institute of Mental Health
Office of AIDS Research
5600 Fishers Lane - Room 18-101
Rockville, MD 20857
dr89b@nih.gov

Office: 301-443-6100/Fax: 301-443-9719

Scott Sanders
Associate Director for Public Policy
AmFAR
1828 L Street, NW - Suite 802
Washington, DC 20036

Office: 202-331-8600/Fax: 202-331-8606

Todd Summers
Deputy Director
White House Office of National AIDS Policy
736 Jackson Place, NW
Washington, DC 20503
Office: 202-456-2437/Fax: 202-456-2438

Charles van der Horst, MD., FACP Professor of Medicine / PI -UNC ACTU University of North Carolina CB#7030 Chapel Hill, NC 27599-7030 cvdh@mpd.unc.edu

Office: 919-966-2536/Fax: 919-966-6714

Marion Warwick, MD Medical Consultant MO-DoH - Bureau of HIV/AIDS & Prevention 930 Wildwood Jefferson City, MO 65109 warwim@mail.health..mo.us Office: 573-751-6447

Catherine Wilfert, MD
Professor Emeritus
Duke University Medical Center
Room 1079
Duke South - Box 2951
Durham, NC 27710
wilfe001@mc.duke.edu

Office: 919-684-8772 / Fax: 919-684-8514

Donald Young, MD Senior Vice President for Clinical Affairs American Association of Health Plans 1129 20th Street, NW - Suite 600 Washington, DC 20036-3421 dyoung@aahp.org

Office: 202-861-1476/Fax: 202-331-7487